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weclapp SE (IFRS)

Year-on-year comparison
01/01–31/12
2020
2019

Change
in %

Revenues

(in EUR million)

7.33

4.65

57.6

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes and
amortisation)

(in EUR million)

2.63

1.26

108.7

EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes)

(in EUR million)

2.42

1.09

122.0

EBT (earnings before tax)

(in EUR million)

2.39

1.04

129.8

Net earnings for the period

(in EUR million)

1.65

1.30

26.9

Total assets

(in EUR million)

3.98

3.64

9.3

Free cash flow

(in EUR million)

2.41

1.64

47.0

„

weclapp is not just some enterprise software,
some technical gimmick.

It’s a philosophy, a spirit.
It’s about teams and collaboration.
It’s about speed and comfort.
It’s about efficiency and customer delight!
Once you enter this smart universe,
once you embark on weclapp,
your business will never be the same again.
Ertan Özdil

Rounding differences may occur in texts, tables and charts for arithmetic reasons.
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Background information
Business model

weclapp SE (hereinafter also “weclapp”) is a public limited company under European law
(Societas Europaea) with a two-tier board system consisting of a Management Board and a
Supervisory Board. weclapp’s head office is situated in Frankfurt am Main. The Company was
founded in 2008 and has gone by the name of weclapp SE since 2019.
The Company’s business purpose is the development and sale of software and the running of
all related ancillary business.
In the financial year 2020, weclapp SE continued to offer primarily small-and mid-sized (SMEs)
in Germany access to its cloud-based corporate software of the same name against a flat-rate
fee.
weclapp operates and develops a cloud-based transaction platform for corporate software
which it generally offers to SMEs as Software-as-a-Service (SaaS). This corporate software
enables clients to map and manage key processes in their operations in a comprehensive and
consistent way with the aid of a single application and to interact across sectors with other
users and third parties, thereby achieving efficiency advantages. weclapp offers Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) and Customer Relationship Management (CRM) as key functionalities.
The service portfolio currently comprises three different packages which can be used on a
monthly basis respectively or with one- or two-year contracts against a license fee. The
resulting long-term commitments facilitate short- and medium-term financial planning.
Clients have unrestricted access to their business transactions and data from any Internet
compatible device and from anywhere with an Internet connection.
The software can essentially be used by companies from all sectors with product and service
offerings of any kind. The largest client groups currently consist of retail and service
companies, which includes consultants and advertising as well as other agencies specialising
in communication in particular.
The weclapp program can be freely extended by add-ons and offers limitless scalability.
Integrations and add-ons to the system specific to a defined sector are not solely implemented
by weclapp SE’s development team but also by partners and customers. The open source
community actively contributes to expanding the scope of performance as well as to
connecting up peripheral devices and software on a running basis through programming its
own functionalities.
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The Management Board has declared expanding the software to embrace components of
machine learning and the use of artificial intelligence as a key strategic objective.
weclapp SE employees are already working on the first algorithms. Putting together a team for
basic academic research in a collaborative effort with the University of Würzburg commenced
with the recruiting of a manager to head up research in the financial year 2020.
weclapp has leased capacities in computer centres in Frankfurt am Main, Karlsruhe and Zürich
in order to run the software as a platform aimed at managing and securing customer and
operational data in an ongoing process for users and for continuous optimisation for the
operators. The system is certified in accordance with ISO 27001. The existing hardware and
software capacities enable further growth in the context of multi-year planning. The possibility
of expanding capacities is basically unlimited.
weclapp SE aspires to take a leading position in the German, European and international
market for cloud-based corporate software. It pursues a multi-pronged sales strategy to
achieve this goal. In particular, it is forging ahead with its established and successful online
marketing through constant evaluation and optimisation and is replicating and transferring it to
other languages and countries. In addition, it is developing a partner network to assist in
building up its offering of client support and accelerate the process of winning new clients.
Clients are mostly IT service providers that, for their part, use weclapp as an ERP solution in
their own companies and offer it to their customers in combination with their own product and
service range. Lastly, weclapp has begun the process of adapting sales solutions to countries
and regions outside Germany in order to take the process of internationalising its business
forward.
Along with user licenses and processing power, flanked by providing advice on using its
software, weclapp SE offers extensive customer support. weclapp’s professional service team
supports clients during the implementation phase and the integration of weclapp into existing
business processes, as well as with linking up third-party software and hardware through
weclapp’s own open interfaces (REST APIs).
weclapp SE uses the services of 3U HOLDING AG, its parent company, for key administration
processes, specifically for the areas of finance, controlling and accounting, along with the
Legal and Personnel departments. Developing the respective responsibilities and processes
has been initiated in weclapp SE.
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Main locations
weclapp’s head office is situated in Frankfurt am Main. weclapp SE maintains other branch
offices in Marburg and Kitzingen. The Company’s marketing, product management and
customer support operate primarily out of Marburg. Research and development are
concentrated in the Kitzingen location. Establishing and building up other, also international
locations, is planned but has meanwhile not been taken forward due to the COVID-19
pandemic.
Partner company ESTREMO TECHNOLOGIES PRIVATE LIMITED situated in Mumbai (India)
employs a team of software developers who work exclusively for weclapp.

Germany

Marburg
Frankfurt
Kitzingen
Italy

Bozen

USA

San Francisco
(planned)

Switzerland

St. Gallen
(planned)
Austria

Vienna
(planned)

India

Mumbai
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Management system

As a subsidiary of the 3U Group, weclapp SE is incorporated into the groupwide management
system. Similar to the 3U Group’s structure and organisation, weclapp SE’s structure and
processes are subject to continuous monitoring and improvement. Ongoing adjustments to the
organisation structures ensure clear accountability. Within the system of process-oriented
work, processes have been divided into sub-processes with responsibility assigned to the
process and sub-process owners. Responsibilities within the monitoring, planning and
management system as well as for information and data security are clearly defined.
The monitoring and planning system essentially consists of management information and risk
reporting on a monthly basis, the risk report and an overview of the development of defined
performance and sales metrics. In addition, a monthly overview of the degree to which goals
have been achieved and the development of liquidity facilitates supervision and control by the
Management Board. Collecting and monitoring these data also form part of weclapp SE’s
internal management and control in line with professional standards.
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board confer regularly on the achieving of the
sales forecast and the EBITDA targets, as well as earnings for the period over the next twelve
months respectively. Planning for the two subsequent financial years is based on the detailed
planning of the first planning year. The assumptions for revenue planning are prepared in a
process of consultation with the teams responsible for sales, marketing, product management,
along with research and development; regulatory developments which are foreseeable and
trends in the sector are incorporated at market level. Changes relevant to earnings are
communicated through direct and up-to-date ad-hoc reporting between the Management
Board and the Supervisory Board.
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General conditions
Development of the macroeconomic environment

The general economic environment generally affects the investment propensity of companies
and tends to influence demand for suitable corporate software designed to enable newly
established and existing SMEs to optimise and automate their business processes while
achieving or preserving competitive advantages.
The economy in 2020 was dominated by the course of the COVID-19 pandemic and by the
legislative and government measures enacted to combat the pandemic. Global economic and
trading activities suffered serious disruption in 2020 due to the impact of the pandemic and
the restrictions imposed in its wake. According to the German government’s annual economic
report, the gross domestic product contracted by 5.0 % in 2020. In the final quarter of 2020,
industrial production and order intake of the processing industry saw a slight rebound. Retail
sales displayed a disparate development : While sales on the Internet and through mail order
rose sharply, stationary retail sustained losses. According to the German government, precrisis economic output is likely to be regained in mid-2022 at the earliest.
At the start of the current financial year 2021, economic data and expectations presented a
disparate picture. The question is how long and how intensively will economic activity be
subject to restrictions? What degree of resilience does the Mittelstand in particular have? Will
consumer behaviour subsequently recover and change, and if so how? Business sentiment
about the German economy has improved considerably. The ifo business climate index
climbed to 96.6 points in March 2021, up from 92.7 points in February (seasonally adjusted),
marking the highest figure since June 2019. Companies were noticeably more satisfied with
their current situation. Moreover, optimism about future prospects in the months ahead has
returned. Despite rising infection rates, the German economy has ushered in the spring with
confidence.
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weclapp SE’s business activities remained virtually unaffected by the COVID-19 pandemic in
the financial year 2020. weclapp’s Management Board regularly reviewed the situation
regarding the employees’ health and welfare situation and the impact of the restrictions on
business processes. The Board took precautionary measures for the protection of the
employees at an early stage, recommended home office, issued instructions on hygiene
measures and restrictions on contact, replaced travel mainly by deploying digital alternatives,
and made compensation payments to the employees at the end of the year for burdens related
to the pandemic. To promote the safety of employees who needed to be physically present to
carry out their tasks at locations weclapp arranged for free self-testing.
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Industry-specific economic conditions

Aside from the overall economic situation, the environment for weclapp SE’s development can
be assessed positively, at the latest when the current restrictions on business are lifted again.
weclapp’s cloud-based ERP platform which goes by the same name meets market expectations
exceptionally well, as can be seen from the Company’s revenue growth since entering the
market – and in the financial year 2020.
Corporate growth was also favoured in 2020 by three trends which are currently causing a sea
change in the target group : growing digitalisation in tandem with the growing use of multifunctional enterprise resource planning (ERP) and cloud computing.
The COVID-19 pandemic has hugely accelerated digitalisation concludes industry association
Bitkom e.V., summarising the situation in a current study. According to this study, 65 % of
companies whose business processes were already digitalised are coping with the crisis better
than others. Of the respondent companies, 75 % invested in procuring software, and 79 % in
tools for digital collaboration.
ERP systems are used to streamline the value-added processes of a company and make them
more efficient, while enabling the ongoing optimisation of entrepreneurial and operational
workflows.
As opposed to the past when the ERP market was dominated by on-premise solutions installed
in storage locations belonging to a company with systems maintained on site, cloud-based
solutions are gaining traction in terms of their market share. From a user standpoint, these
solutions excel as there is significantly less effort involved in implementation and access is
simpler using popular, Internet-enabled devices, which includes mobile devices. Moreover, the
use of cloud applications does not generally require trained internal IT personnel, and
dispenses with maintenance such as installing updates and patches.
Furthermore, central data storage via the cloud-based platform enables cooperation between
companies and, in particular, the development and the use of self-learning algorithms
(machine learning, artificial intelligence).
This disruptive development is also triggering a profound change in the provider structure on
the German and international market for ERP solutions. In Germany alone, there are currently
around 500 companies operating as providers of ERP solutions. These providers offer almost
exclusively on-premises solutions which frequently originate in the early 1990s. Only very few
firms are offering genuinely cloud-based platforms which are already competitive. In the
opinion of management, weclapp SE therefore has a tangible competitive advantage.
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Based on its strategic target groups of SMEs, weclapp, with its software of the same name,
addresses a growing market which is exposed to great uncertainty caused by the current
economic restrictions. Whether and to what extent small operations in particular will be forced
to close down is currently not foreseeable, nor is the degree to which this could affect existing
or potential weclapp clients. Furthermore, whether numerous innovative start-ups requiring a
cloud-based ERP platform will continue to be established, as was previously the case, is also
questionable.
In actual fact, compared with 2019, fewer new companies were set up and businesses
registered in 2020 due specifically to the impact of economic constraints from endeavours to
combat the pandemic. This particularly affected new start-ups; figures were 17.3 % lower year
on year.
A general observation here is that the sectors strongly represented in weclapp’s group of
customers, specifically e-commerce providers, consultancy firms, IT and communications
service providers, are not seriously affected by pandemic-induced restrictions.
Along with the overall development of the market for ERP systems and the competitiveness
and performance capability of the weclapp solution, success depends on the willingness of
clients and interested parties to create, store and work with their business processes and data
on an external platform (cloud).
Cloud computing is being increasingly perceived by SMEs as a critical technology which
underpins transformation. This technology confers huge efficiency gains on companies, and is
very often adopted as the basis for new business models in the digital economy. From a user
standpoint, cloud computing is defined as the needs-driven use of IT services, such as
software, storage or processing power, via platforms and third-party networks.
The advantages of cloud-based solutions at a technical, financial and structural level make the
use of holistic ERP systems attractive to small and medium-sized companies as well. The
greater acceptance of cloud applications in general by senior executives is also a contributing
factor.
According to the most recent representative survey of Bitkom Research GmbH conducted on
behalf of KPMG AG, a good three quarters (76 %) of all companies were using computing
capacity from the cloud (2018 : 73 %). Another 19 % of companies were planning to use cloud
computing, or were at least at the discussion stage (2018 : 19 %). The group of sceptics who do
not attribute importance to the topic of cloud computing has diminished to a mere 6 % (2019 :
8 %).
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The trend towards using cloud-based ERP solutions is generating steady market growth on a
global scale. MarketsandMarkets analysts predict an average annual growth (CAGR) of 16.3 %
through to 2025 and anticipate global sales of USD 61.2 billion.
Global Cloud-ERP-revenue forecast (in USD bn.)

61.2
54.0
46.8
40.3
34.3
28.7
24.2

2019

2020-e

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025-p

Source: MarketsandMarkets

The Management Board views this positive development in the market and the sector as a
favourable environment for implementing weclapp SE’s strategy and assumes that the market
trend will facilitate the achieving of the Company’s ambitious goals. weclapp’s expansion
strategy provides for organic growth as well as growth through acquisitions of customer bases
or entire companies.
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Economic report
Business development

Over the course of the financial year 2020, further measures were taken to achieve the key
strategic goals. Special emphasis was placed on the further development of the weclapp
platform, expanding sales channels through a partner network, the ongoing internationalisation
of business, and promoting strong organic growth, flanked by initiatives to acquire
competitors and client bases.
In addition, suitable steps were taken in 2020 to adjust internal structures to the current and
planned further growth of products, business and the workforce. This concerned the
implementation of process-oriented management and the objectives and key results (OKR)
method of management. In addition, alongside the ongoing expansion of the team, a number
of managers were recruited. They are responsible for central areas of responsibilities such as
information and data security, partner management and research (AI).

Sales and marketing
In August 2020, weclapp won the accolade of “ERP System of the Year” for the fourth time
conferred by an expert jury under the aegis of the Center for Enterprise Research of the
University of Potsdam.
Client satisfaction plays a critical role in the ERP environment as a whole. As evidenced by the
prestigious “ERP in Practice” study published at the end of 2020 by the high-profile market
research company Trovarit AG, weclapp users derive above-average satisfaction from their
ERP system. This was also reflected by the high number of participating weclapp customers,
on the one hand. On the other, having obtained a score of 1.6 in the overall assessment
(grading from 1.0–5.0), weclapp put partly clear blue water between itself and other
heavyweights in the sector by occupying a top position in the domain of peer systems.
weclapp attended a series of trade fairs in the financial year 2019. These activities could not be
pursued in 2020 as the pandemic did not permit any relevant trade fairs. An evaluation of this
marketing instrument also revealed a cost-benefit ratio that makes a renewed use, also after
the end of the restrictions on economic activity, highly unlikely.
Expanding the network of cooperation and sales partners made further progress. In November
2020, the second weclapp Partner Day took place in virtual form with more than 100 participants from four countries The partners generally come from the sector of mid-sized IT system
houses. They enable their customers to gain easy access to weclapp and, if required, program
interface components using weclapp’s APIs.
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The process of internationalisation is also being promoted, boosted by gradually adapting the
successful online marketing concept in Germany to selected European markets. In the
financial year 2020, comprehensive search-machine optimised Internet content was
completed in Italian and published (https ://www.weclapp.it/). Work on preparing similar
webpages in French and Spanish has commenced. Publication has been scheduled for the first
half of 2021. Entry into other European countries and language regions is planned.
Over the course of the financial year 2020, intensive discussions took place with
INFOMINDS AG based in Bozen, Italy, on a sales cooperation for the Italian market.
An agreement signed on 13 January 2021 provides for partner INFOMINDS marketing the
cloud-based weclapp ERP platform exclusively throughout Italy.

Research and Development
Since its founding, weclapp as a cloud-based ERP software has operated as an innovation
pioneer in the area of data processing, usage and storage. At the same time, it is also active in
the field of future research for the deployment of artificial intelligence and new work (agility).
To accelerate the implementation of this strategy, the financial year 2020 also saw the newly
created position of head of Research and Development being filled, among other measures.
Establishing an Artificial Intelligence Cluster is at the planning stage in cooperation with the
Faculty for Business Administration and Business Informatics under the supervision of
Prof. Dr. Axel Winkelmann. Close collaboration between universities and companies and the
interplay between practical requirements and basic research allows the results of research to
be directly incorporated into product development. Cross-pollination takes place between
academic research and forward looking applications and results in highlighting the commercial
aspects of innovative research approaches. weclapp is already represented in Germany’s
largest ERP laboratory which is operated from the Faculty of Business Management and
Economics of the Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg.
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Result of operations

Revenue
In the financial year 2020, weclapp SE raised revenues by EUR 2.68 million (57.6 %), from
EUR 4.65 million to EUR 7.33 million compared with the previous year.*
weclapp generates revenues firstly through regular payments remitted by clients for the right
to use its cloud-based ERP platform of the same name, and secondly by offering services
which clients use on a one-off basis. The main items which were part of non-recurrent orders
included individual software developments, on the one hand, and partner and online training,
on the other. weclapp views widening the scope of its service offering as a potential factor for
future revenue growth.

The major part of revenue nevertheless originates from revenues generated through business
with regular clients. weclapp achieved EUR 6.20 million from recurrent lease payments from
clients for the use of its platform in the financial year 2020 (2019 : EUR 4.33 million).
In this context, average revenue per account per month (ARPA) rose from EUR 149 in January
to EUR 184 in December. The weclapp platform is currently especially suited to companies
with five to 250 employees. As part of its strategy, weclapp is targeting the ongoing development of this SME segment while also focusing on raising the number of licenses per customer.
This applies to upselling with existing customers and also to winning new customers.
Implementing this strategy will also increase the average revenue per customer beyond the
financial year 2020.
Sales revenue comprises sales with other Group companies of the parent company
3U HOLDING AG amounting to EUR 0.24 million (2019 : EUR 0.18 million). Along with
*Percentages pertain to the figures rounded up to EUR million in the management report.
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expediting projects within the Group in the online marketing business, revenue results mainly
from projects with companies in the Group’s SHAC segment (Sanitary, Heating and Air
Conditioning Technology) for the purpose of developing an innovative inventory management
system with components of machine learning and intelligent forecasting.
The changes in inventories of work in progress of EUR 0.13 million (2019 : EUR 0.11 million)
relate to software developments from an IT consulting project not yet completed.
The cost of materials at weclapp is low due to its business model.

EBITDA
Personnel expenses advanced by EUR 0.92 million (37.6 %) to EUR 3.55 million in a year-on-year
comparison. The increase is attributable to the ongoing recruiting of personnel on the back of
growth, which takes account of greater requirements for employees in all areas of tasks. The
personnel expenses ratio of 48.5 % was nevertheless significantly below the year-earlier level
(2019 : 55.5 %).

Other operating expenses increased by EUR 0.15 million (14.7 %) to EUR 1.16 million in
comparison with the previous year (2019 : EUR 1.01 million). The cost of services used internally
in the areas of law, personnel, finance and IT operations grew by kEUR 29, from kEUR 201 in
the financial year 2019 to kEUR 230 in the reporting period due to business growth. At
kEUR 133, sourcing external services for the software development activities from the IT team
in Mumbai (India), which works exclusively for weclapp, were higher than the year-earlier level
(2019 : kEUR 111). The cost of leasing capacities in computer centres advanced to kEUR 104.8
(2019 : kEUR 79). Expenses incurred for commissions paid to sales partners also rose by kEUR
43 to kEUR 98 (2019 : kEUR 55).
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EBITDA therefore came in at EUR 2.63 million, which is double the 2019 figure when EBITDA
stood at EUR 1.26 million. The EBITDA margin as percentage of revenues stood at 35.9 % in the
financial year 2020, which is also significantly higher compared with the previous year (2019 :
27.1 %).

Result for the period
Depreciation and amortisation of EUR 0.21 million was carried out in 2020 (2019 : EUR 0.17 million). The lower negative other financial result of kEUR 28 dropped below the year-earlier
figure due to loan repayments (2019 : kEUR 50).
As the loss carryforwards arising from the development and market entry phase have been
fully utilised, tax expenses of EUR 0.74 million were incurred in 2020 (2019 : tax income of
EUR 0.26 million).
weclapp SE achieved a result for the period of EUR 1.65 million in the 2020 financial year, up
from EUR 1.30 million in 2019.
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Financial position

Cash flow statement
Cash flow statement (in kEUR)

Financial year
01/01–31/12
2020
2019

Cash flow

421

203

Cash flows from operating activities

2,663

1,745

Cash flows from investing activities

–257

–103

Cash flows from financing activities

–1,985

–1,439

Total changes in cash and cash equivalents

421

203

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

503

300

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

924

503

For the purpose of presenting cash inflows and outflows in the financial year, the result for
the period of EUR 1.65 million was adjusted in a first step for non-cash expenses and for cash
inflows and outflows from changes in assets and liabilities.
Along with the lower level of depreciation and amortisation due to operations, the businessrelated increase in other liabilities mainly contributed to the cash flow from operating
activities. This item reflects payments remitted for one- and two-year contracts which are
accrued on the revenue side over the respective term. A counter effect emanated from the
development of inventories and trade receivables with a cash outflow of EUR 0.37 million,
mainly for IT consulting projects under way (cash inflow in 2019 from the increase in trade
payables). The cash inflow from operating activities totalled EUR 2.66 million in the financial
year 2020 (2019 : EUR 1.75 million).
Investments, mainly for information technology, equipping workstations and for software
usage rights, were only marginal also for reason of the business. The cash outflow from
investment activities stood at EUR 0.26 million (2019 : cash outflow of EUR 0.10 million).
The cash flow from financing activities is essentially determined by the repayment of a loan
from the parent company originating from weclapp’s start-up phase. The good financial
position enabled an amount of EUR 1.84 million to be paid to service this loan, EUR 0.52 million
more than in 2019 (EUR 1.32 million). The cash outflow from financing activities totalled
EUR 1.99 million (2019 : EUR 1.44 million). Free cash flow rose from EUR 1.64 million in 2019 to
EUR 2.41 million in the financial year 2020.
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Overall, cash and cash equivalents climbed by EUR 0.42 million, from EUR 0.50 million at the
start of the financial year to EUR 0.92 million as of 31 December 2020.
Overview of balance sheet items at

Non-current assets

31/12/2020
kEUR

31/12/2019
kEUR

%

%

2,030

51.0

2,415

66.4

550

13.8

469

12.9

1,467

36.9

1,937

53.3

13

0.3

9

0.2

1,951

49.0

1,222

33.6

89

2.2

107

2.9

902

22.7

576

15.9

36

0.9

36

1.0

924

23.2

503

13.8

Assets

3,981

100.0

3,637

100.0

Non-current liabilities

1,243

30.1

–1,276

–35.1

Equity

–635

–15.9

–2,287

–62.9

Provisions and liabilities

1,878

46.0

1,011

27.8

Current liabilities

2,738

69.9

4,913

135.1

Trade payables

0

0.0

1,835

50.5

2,738

69.9

3,078

84.6

3,981

100.0

3,637

100.0

Fixed assets
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Other current provisions and liabilities

Liabilities
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Asset position

Assets
The merger of weclapp GmbH to form weclapp SE was carried out from a tax standpoint by
recognising an interim value. Under this approach, hidden reserves were essentially disclosed
in the scope within which the resulting tax result could be offset by loss carryforwards. In
future, the disclosed hidden reserves in the tax balance sheet will lead to depreciation
potential for tax purposes which will reduce the tax result. Using the carrying amounts in the
IFRS accounts resulted in temporary differences compared with the tax balance sheet. As of
31 December 2020, deferred tax assets of EUR 1.47 million were formed on these temporary
differences (December 31, 2019 : EUR 1.94 million). The decline results from tax depreciations
and the associated reduction in the temporary differences as well as the use of tax loss
carryforwards.
Software acquired is reported under intangible assets, including a cash register system of a
third party provider which was integrated into the ERP platform.
The capitalisation of usage rights essentially relates to office leases.
Current assets comprise inventories of EUR 0.09 million, mainly in respect of IT consulting
projects under way (2019 : EUR 0.11 million).
Trade receivables of EUR 0.90 million are mainly due to the increase in business activities
(31 December 2019 : EUR 0.58 million). Receivables vis-a-vis external third parties were
recorded at EUR 0.89 million on the reporting date (31 December 2019 : EUR 0.47 million).
As of the respective balance sheet date, days sales outstanding rose from 37 days as of
31 December 2019 to 45 days as of 31 December 2020.
The increase in total assets from EUR 3.64 million as of 31 December 2019 to EUR 3.98 million
as of 31 December 2020 consequently results on the assets side from the higher amount
recognised for current assets and intangible assets. A counter effect emanated from the
decline in deferred tax assets. This was offset by the reduction in negative equity (based on
profit in 2020) and from reducing financial liabilities. Moreover, the business-related increase
in other liabilities, in particular from the deferral of prepaid license agreements, is noteworthy.
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Equity and liabilities
Following the full repayment of the parent company’s loan, current and non-current financial
liabilities no longer existed in weclapp’s statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020
(31 December 2019 : EUR 1.84 million). As of 31 December 2020, net cash therefore replaced
net debt of EUR 1.33 million still existing as of 31 December 2019.
Non-current and current leasing liabilities came in at EUR 0.19 million as of 31 December 2020
(December 31, 2019 : EUR 0.30 million). These are essentially rights of use in connection with
the leasing of office premises.
In accordance with the business model, weclapp receives advance payments from its clients
from long-term contracts which entitle them to use the Company’s cloud-based ERP platform.
Depending on their residual term, these contracts give rise to current and non-current
liabilities. This resulted in non-current other liabilities of EUR 1.83 million as of 31 December 2020 (residual term >1 year; 31 December 2019 : EUR 0.88 million), and other current
liabilities of EUR 2.12 million (residual term >1 year; 31 December 2019 : EUR 1.79 million). The
increase in these items is attributable to the higher volume of business activities. Trade
payables amounted to EUR 0.23 million (31 December 2019 : EUR 0.29 million). This item
essentially comprises pending work from IT consulting projects.
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Equity
Through the merger to form an SE, weclapp GmbH’s negative result carried forward under
German commercial law and the capital reserve were absorbed. At the same time, the capital
of the SE was raised by EUR 70.00 million. The difference between the value of the asset
transferred and the capitalised net assets from the assets and liabilities absorbed is accounted
for through recognising an adjustment item as other equity item of EUR –73.70 million.
weclapp SE’s equity capital as of 31 December 2020 therefore breaks down as follows :
Subscribed capital of EUR 70.12 million is offset by the resulting adjustment item from the
merger and capital increase reported in “Other equity items”, as well as the result of
EUR 1.65 million (profit contribution as of 31 December 2019 : EUR 1.30 million). Equity capital
therefore amounts to EUR –0.64 million (December 31, 2019 : EUR –2.29 million). The negative
equity is still attributable to the losses incurred by the start-up phase and has been
significantly reduced over the course of 2020 as well. Based on the current business activity,
guidance for the financial year 2021 and the medium-term planning, the Management Board
assumes that the Company will have achieved a positive equity position again under IFRS
standards by the next balance sheet date (31 December 2021).
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General statement on the economic situation of the company

The Management Board currently considers the economic situation of the Company, its
development at the time when the management report was prepared and its outlook as good.
In the Management Board’s opinion, weclapp SE’s performance, along with its financial
position, reflect the Company’s outstanding market position and its service offering. weclapp
is profitable and generates healthy cash flows from its operating activities. weclapp SE’s
equity position has improved and the financial liabilities have been reduced. The Company
was in a position to meet its financial obligations at all times, which is also guaranteed in 2021.
The Management Board therefore anticipates a very good basis for rapid and highly profitable
growth to continue. At the same time, management is aware of the short- and medium-term
risks arising from measures to prevent the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. These measures
entail severe consequences for the economy as a whole and for weclapp SE’s client base in
particular.
The strategy pursued of increasingly concentrating on raising revenue per client, expanding
sales operations and forging ahead with the internationalisation of business suggests, in the
opinion of the Management Board, that weclapp will be able to master these risks and realise
its long-term prospects, also after temporary setbacks which are unlikely but cannot be
excluded.
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Forecast, opportunities and risk report
Forecast report

Comparison between forecasted and actual performance
The Management Board issued the following forecast for the financial year 2020 :
“The Management Board anticipates organic revenue growth of between EUR 7.0 million and
EUR 8.0 million. Despite the recruiting of new personnel and higher expenses, EBITDA is
expected in a range of EUR 2.0 million and EUR 2.5 million and an annual profit of between
EUR 1.5 million and EUR 2.0 million.” With sales revenue of EUR 7.33 million, EBITDA of
EUR 2.63 million and an annual profit of EUR 1.65 million, the forecast was fully met, thus once
more underscoring the planning reliability of previous years.

Forecast
There are no inherent restrictions on the Company’s growth and on extending the system’s
functionalities. On the one hand, the necessary server infrastructure has theoretically
boundless scalability. On the other, the chosen architecture and the development processes
implemented enable functionalities to be optimised and supplemented on a running basis
through the Company’s own development teams as well as by external parties, i. e. the
community. The Company’s competitive position is therefore steadily reinforced.
The weclapp platform is ideal for promoting the internationalisation of the business and enjoys
competitive advantage as its core processes do not originate from financial accounting which
is subject to the national law of the respective country. Instead it has its roots in the processes
of enterprise resource planning which are similar across the globe. Furthermore, clients can
access their data and business processes wherever they are provided there is an Internet
connection and they have a browser-enabled device. Several language versions are already
available and others are currently being developed.
In order to guarantee the requisite information, data and process security, weclapp is certified
in accordance with the ISO 27001 standard.
weclapp fundamentally operates in a market – both in Germany and more intensively on an
international scale – which is set to grow rapidly in the foreseeable future. The Company
targets client segments which have a natural affinity for a cloud-based approach to work due
to their already high level of digitalisation or which are upgrading their infrastructure in the
context of the ongoing digitalisation of the economy and keen to sharpen their competitive
edge. The cloud-based weclapp platform is specifically designed and ideally suited to these
aspirations. weclapp SE therefore anticipates sustained strong demand.
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The expansion of online marketing and the development of the sales network and, in the
context of the core target group of SMEs with five to 250 employees, increasingly winning
larger companies as clients suggests strong organic growth. The development of additional
functionalities against a fee can also boost growth. Furthermore, weclapp and 3U HOLDING AG
as its parent company have plans to accelerate the growth process through acquiring
companies and customer bases.
Against this backdrop, the Management Board anticipates organic revenue growth within a
range of EUR 11.0 million and EUR 12.0 million. Despite the recruiting of new personnel and
greater expenses incurred by the process of internationalising its business, the Company is
targeting EBITDA of EUR 3.0 million to EUR 4.0 million and an annual result in a range of
between EUR 2.0 million and EUR 2.5 million in the 2021 financial year.
The forecast is subject to the following current fundamental considerations : The measures to
combat the coronavirus pandemic have resulted in significant economic disruption. The
financial difficulties of clients and of prospective buyers may lead to business relationships
being terminated, defaults on receivables and to delays, or orders not being placed or projects
not being implemented.
At the time when this management report was being prepared, the Management Board
nevertheless stated that the current conditions in the environment had not so far resulted in
significant deviations from weclapp’s budget. The high proportion of recurrent revenue from
continuing obligations justifies leaving the assumption of further growth in revenue and
earnings unchanged.
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Opportunities report

Similar to risks, opportunities are systematically identified and assessed in weclapp SE.
Potential opportunities are discussed and documented by way of a risk inventory. A more
detailed analysis and assessment of the opportunities and possible measures are incumbent on
the Management Board in the context of its corporate strategy.
As opportunities always entail risks, it is expedient wherever possible to consider risks and
opportunities together in order to exploit the potential opportunities for profit in a controlled
manner once a deep insight about the risks and the context has been gained.
weclapp SE continues to grow fast in its home market. New clients are won through successful
online marketing on the one hand, and through a growing network of sales partnerships, on
the other. If online marketing is successful in raising the conversion rate of registered visitors
to paying clients, and if customer support can convince existing clients of the need to increase
the number of their licences above the current plan, this will generate additional revenue and
earnings potential.
The loss of customers (churn) is attributable to various factors often not within weclapp’s
sphere of influence. weclapp nevertheless seeks and exploits possibilities for improving
customer loyalty. If such measures result in the churn rate being significantly reduced, this
could also contribute to revenue and earnings exceeding the forecast figures.
Powerful arguments for winning new customers and customer retention are inherent in the
performance and quality of the product – for instance, when weclapp creates competitive
advantages for clients who can themselves then perform their work much more efficiently and
creatively by using the ERP platform. One of the tasks of research and development is to
enable the platform to evolve into an ecosystem in which interaction between clients and third
parties plays an increasingly important role. In addition, the development of artificial
intelligence functionalities should enable customers to derive additional competitive
advantages. If these undertakings can be realised more rapidly than planned, this may result in
additional revenue and earnings potential.
Expanding into other countries with the aid of online marketing, sales and financial partners is
a currently new key factor in the implementation of the Company’s strategy. Thanks to the
competitive advantages of the weclapp platform and to gaining partners with a high market
penetration, this expansion could take place at a faster rate than planned.
The recruitment of qualified and customer-centric personnel is improving the performance of
the organisation and the software faster than expected. A counter effect may emanate from
higher than planned personnel expenses.
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The corporate strategy also envisages the acquisition of competitors and customer bases.
Successfully implementing this strategic component may also generate sales and earnings
above budget. A list of potential targets companies has been drawn up. Management will
make contact with the respective entrepreneurs and shareholders and explore the possibility
of an acquisition. If an acquisition is successfully completed and clients can be quickly
migrated to the weclapp platform, revenues and earnings may be considerably higher than
indicated in the forecast. This also applies to cases where the acquisition of the target
company is principally aimed at the transfer of technologies and of know-how.
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Risk report

The risk management system of weclapp SE
Entrepreneurial activity is always associated with risk. Deliberately entering into risks to
promote entrepreneurial success is unavoidable and prudent. weclapp SE approaches all risks
and opportunities systematically. It pursues the goal of identifying risks in a controlled and
deliberate manner and managing them, while seizing opportunities when they arise. weclapp
SE’s risk policy therefore defines the desired relationship between risks and opportunities and
incorporates it into the strategic corporate goals.
weclapp SE uses the risk management system set up by its parent company 3U HOLDING AG.
This system has been tried and tested over many years and complies with the statutory and
regulatory requirements. As part of risk management, the individual risks are examined,
evaluated and reported on by the risk owners and risk managers of weclapp SE. By contrast,
opportunities are identified and documented in particular when a risk inventory is carried out.
As part of the annual medium-term planning and the continuous improvement of the
information security management system in accordance with ISO 27001, extensive analyses
and assessments of the risks and opportunities are conducted by weclapp SE’s Management
Board. The entire risk management system with its processes, documentation and reports
serves to secure the strategic corporate goals and to promote the Company’s success.
The risk management system is continuously adjusted to changes in the environment and is
subject to ongoing development with a view to ensuring that, along with internal changes,
external factors such as changes in the law or in the market are also taken into account.
Furthermore, methods, definitions and workflows are considered and, if appropriate, adjusted
to reflect current conditions.
As part of a continuous process of improvement, weclapp SE has linked up the areas of
compliance, accounting processes, internal control system (ICS) and risk management to form
an aggregate of interlinked individual systems. weclapp SE is guided by the internationally
recognised ISO 27001 standard and COSO ERM to the extent that management considers the
approaches described as appropriate. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of
weclapp SE thus emphasise the significance of corporate governance, which stands for
responsible management and control of the Company aligned to long-term success.
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Risk management strategy
The Management Board determines the risk strategy which is derived from the corporate
goals and establishes the fundamental conditions for the risk management system. This
system is used as a basis for creating, deriving and implementing strategic and operational
measures for achieving the goals. The objective is not to avoid potential risks as a whole, but
to widen the scope for action always on the basis of an informed opinion about the
connections between the individual risks and the respective opportunities.
Responsibility and reporting concept
All employees are under obligation to act in an awareness of the risks in the context of the
tasks and responsibilities assigned to them. Along with the Management Board, the risk officer
and, if appropriate, the respective risk owners are directly responsible for the early detection
and control of risks. Regular information and updated documentation make a contribution to
all employees being aware of the requirements and procedures of risk management.
The risk management processes and workflows are documented with regard to the
effectiveness and efficiency of the system with the support of professional risk management
software. The software supports the risk officer and the risk owner in evaluating and managing
the risks.
As risk owners, the members of the Management Board make active use of the groupwide
R2C risk management software and are thus informed about current changes at all times. In
addition, regular reports on the current risk situation and its possible future development are
made by the risk officer as part of standardised reporting. Along with weclapp SE’s
Management Board, its Supervisory Board is also provided with standardised reporting. The
use of the risk management software enables reporting to be made in great detail. After
consulting the risk manager and the risk officer, where appropriate, the Management Board
decides on content from the risk management system and initiates any necessary measures
based on the current risk assumptions. In addition, the Management Board regularly informs
the Supervisory Board on how risks are developing and the measures taken.
The risk manager will inform the Supervisory Board at least once a year about the efficiency
and effectiveness of processes under the risk management system, as well as compliance with
the rules and regulations. Moreover, reports are submitted on other topics including the
accounting process, ICS and compliance management to enable the Supervisory Board to
systematically discharge its supervisory duties in accordance with Section 107 (3) sentence 2
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), in conjunction with Art. 40 and 41 of the Council
Regulation (EC) No 2157/2001.
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Methodology of the risk management system
With regard to the risks identified as acute or in the context of a risk inventory, indicators with
a rating system consisting of scores and the relevant thresholds suitable for facilitating the
monitoring and assessment of risks are generally defined. Ongoing monitoring and evaluation
are carried out by the risk officer using the operational and financial performance indicators
and are an integral part of regular reporting.
Definition of risk
Risk is defined as the possibility of a negative divergence between the actual and anticipated
result (corporate goal). There is an inherent danger of adverse events occurring (loss of assets
and/or of earnings) or that events do take place as desired (lost opportunities).
Definition of gross and net risk
Evaluating the risks identified in the context of the risk inventory is performed on the basis of
gross and net risk methodology. In determining gross risks, the compensating controls of
limiting and managing risks are initially not taken into account. Compensating controls are
measures defined and suitable for avoiding, mitigating or transferring risk. In addition, there is
also a possibility of taking on risk at an acceptable level, provided that reducing risk further is
not economical.
Considering gross risk is indispensable since the danger of merely considering risk from a net
perspective is that the risks which are currently well controlled but nevertheless pose a threat
to the Company as a going concern are not monitored on an ongoing and timely manner. This
may lead to changes in the processes and any resulting additional risks not being detected in
time.
When evaluating the net risks, the existing compensating measures are taken into account in
the risk analysis and serve as a basis for operational risk management.
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The gross risks become net risks (residual risks) through internal controls and the measures
derived therefrom.

Risk level

Impact

Measures
Gross risk
Net risk

Assessing both gross and net risks in the categories of amount of loss and probability of
occurrence is performed with the aid of scores.
The following scores have been assigned to the probability of occurrence :
(1) Unlikely

— less than 5 %

(2) Low

— at least 5 % and lower than 35 %

(3) Medium

— at least 35 % and lower than 65 %

(4) High

— at least 65 % and lower than 95 %

(5) Highly probable

— at least 95 % to 100 %

The amount of loss per risk is geared to the possible shortfall in profit contribution in
weclapp SE’s income statement. The scores are assigned to different amounts of damage
(impact/damage) :
(1) Insignificant

— up to kEUR 125

(2) Low

— from kEUR 125 to kEUR 250

(3) Noticeable

— from kEUR 250 to kEUR 625

(4) High (critical)

— from kEUR 625 to kEUR 1,250

(5) Disastrous (existential)

— from kEUR 1,250 or more

After the risk inventory has been drawn up, the scores ascertained are transferred to the
software. The scores and the categories based on the quantitative assessment are presented
as part of regular reporting in the form of loss amounts in euros and probability of occurrence
in percent. The multiplication of these two parameters then results in an anticipated value in
euros which is used for division into four risk categories.
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Risk categories

Probability of occurence

Highly
probable

High

Medium
Risk category 4

Low
Risk category 3
Risk category 2

Unlikely
Risk category 1

Insignificant

Low

Noticeable

High
(critical)

Disastrous
(existential)

Impact/loss

To provide a better basis for comparison, the sequence of numbers assigned to the risk
categories was reversed compared with the previous years. Risk category 4 is therefore the
highest with risks which are potentially critical for weclapp as a going concern.
All risks identified are managed based on the probability of occurrence and the amount of
loss. A differentiation is made between the measures deployed in terms of their scope,
depending on the type and classification of the individual risks.

Individual risks
Within the risk management system, the Management Board differentiates between risks from
the general social and economic environment, risks from the sectoral and competitive
environment, personnel, financing and technical risks.
Risk assessment in view of the current pandemic and the requisite public health measures
Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Management Board has kept a very close eye
on developments in society and the economy and has conducted a regular assessment of the
risks that these entail. At an early stage, the Management Board introduced precautionary
measures in the various locations and in the companies with a view to minimising the risk of
infection in the workplace for the employees.
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Reliably ascertaining whether and to what extent the potential bankruptcy of small and midsized clients could have a negative impact on weclapp is not possible at present.
General risks
weclapp’s targets clients which are predominantly small-and mid-sized companies currently
mainly located in Germany. Business success therefore depends, among other things, on
factors from the general social and economic environment. Such factors include the impact of
economic downturns right through to recession, along with restrictions placed on the business
community from measures to protect against catastrophes or pandemics. They may have a
range of different consequences. Potential clients and interested parties may postpone
investment decisions or migration projects or cancel them entirely. Clients in critical situations
may mean delays in payments, temporary default or, in the event of insolvencies, the end of a
cooperation resulting in a loss of revenue and earnings.
Risks in this category may possibly also be detrimental to the commitment of the employees
and of management and thus impair the Company’s ability to provide services or develop them
further.
It is generally not possible to foresee risks of this kind and consequently virtually impossible to
identify or take preventative measures. It is incumbent upon management, however, to
counteract these risks by steadily monitoring the client portfolio and, in particular, by working
towards further diversification by sector and company size.
Sectoral and competitive risks
Although weclapp asserts that it has competitive advantage and a partly unique selling
proposition, the possibility of the Company’s market position being negatively affected by
changes in the sectoral and competitive environment cannot be discounted. Changes include
disruptive innovations with underlying technologies or the market entry of new, also
international competitors. An indicator for the occurrence of risks of this kind may be changes
in customer satisfaction.
weclapp counteracts sectoral and competitive risks by the ongoing intensive and anticipatory
screening of IT trends and market developments, flanked by a monthly analysis of churn and
client enquiries, as well as by conducting systematic client surveys. Product management is
designed to incorporate the interests and wishes of clients and, in a defined process, to
implement initiatives for the client-centric development of the product. The facility as a cloudbased ERP platform enables high customer satisfaction through regular and frequent updates
and client retention.
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Personnel risks
In an innovative technology company such as weclapp, a decisive factor in safeguarding and
reinforcing its competitive position is putting the know-how acquired to the greatest possible
sustained use. Winning talent and experts for collaboration at all times and retaining them is
also important. A creative, highly motivated team is therefore weclapp’s most important nonfinancial asset. Conversely, the loss of personnel and difficulties in winning new employees
count among the risks which pose the greatest threat to the business and achieving its goals.
Avoiding these risks is accorded the utmost attention by management.
A key element in avoiding personnel risks in the first place is the corporate culture which is set
down in writing. The Management Board takes care to ensure that the principles defined of
contemporary, agile and youthful teamwork are communicated to employees joining the
Company, are part of everyday life and translate into motivated cooperation in the interest of
the employees themselves, the clients and the Company. Indicators in the categories of
fluctuation, staffing and the hiring of personnel are also closely monitored on a running basis.
Financial risks
Based on the current status of information, weclapp is in a position to finance the organic
growth envisaged from its own high positive cash flow. Furthermore, integration into the
3U Group secures the possibility, if necessary, of using the Group’s financial strength as
appropriate. At the same time, and against the backdrop of the risks described here, topics of
financing, such as receivables management and planning reliability, are continuously
monitored. Any adverse developments in these areas may contribute to organic growth being
slower than predicted.
By contrast, exploiting opportunities for growth by taking over customer bases or competitors
presupposes funds in a much greater scope than weclapp currently generates itself. In terms
of financing and implementation, weclapp initially needs to draw on the support of
3U HOLDING AG as its parent company. At the same time, weclapp endeavours to win equity
investors interested in participating in the Company. If this is not successful, implementing the
strategy may delay additional anorganic growth.
Technical risks
Limits on availability or the compromised confidentiality and integrity of the information
technology deployed may hinder commercial success. This applies to the use of resources by
the employees, for instance, servers, PCs, mobile devices, as well as the ease with which
clients can access the platform. In addition, employees and clients expect compliance with the
most stringent data security standards.
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These three parameters are therefore monitored on a running basis. weclapp is certified in
accordance with ISO 27001. In the future, certification will be affirmed by regular audits.
Harnessing cutting-edge security technologies, including redundant data management, is
aimed at avoiding failures completely or at least minimising them.

Overall statement on weclapp SE’s opportunity and risk situation
Given weclapp’s high positive cash flow and integration into the 3U Group, there are no
discernible risks for the Company. The aforementioned material risks may, however, potentially
jeopardise the achieving of weclapp SE’s goals now and in the future. Implementing the
ambitious growth strategy while sustaining profitability are subject to the various external
influences and internal challenges described here. The Management Board nevertheless
believes that the necessary monitoring instruments and measures have been set in place for
avoiding, minimising or compensating for these risks. Revenues and earnings may be
generated above the forecast elaborated on if the Company is successful in seizing the
opportunities outlined here, either in full or in part.
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Internal control system and risk management system
related to the accounting process

The accounting process is currently conducted on behalf of weclapp SE by 3U HOLDING AG
under a service agreement.
The control system implemented internally and pertaining to the accounting process is
designed to guarantee compliance with rules and regulations and the law through suitable
principles, procedures and measures, all of which ensure regularity, reliability and
completeness in accounting and in financial reporting, taking account of possible risks.
Operating instructions, along with functional descriptions and guidelines which are regularly
revised and updated as required, form the basis for ensuring compliance. This encompasses
accounting policies, for instance, as well as accounting instructions and support by external
consultants. The accounting process is analysed, optimised and documented accordingly. The
internal control system consists of internal control and monitoring functions which are either
integrated into work processes or carried out independently. The segregation of administration
and approval functions through allocation to different employees are examples of integration,
as well as clear responsibilities in the context of regular checks (principle of dual control). The
Supervisory Board is consistently kept up to date on optimisations to the systems. The control
mechanisms deployed function partly by way of automation in the accounting software
systems in order not to impede the efficiency of workflows. The IT systems are also protected
against unauthorised access by a permissions concept. Moreover, the statutory auditor also
reviews the internal control system and the IT systems in the context of auditing the annual
financial statements.
New legal provisions and changes to existing provisions with regard to accounting, and the
associated risks, are directly investigated in terms of their impact on weclapp SE in order to
initiate appropriate measures, if necessary.
The implementation of internal controls is based on identifying a risk at this juncture of the
accounting process. This risk may originate from various sources, also from legal provisions.
The dual effect of risk and compliance management and the internal control system is
particularly apparent in the accounting process and is therefore consistently optimised in an
ongoing improvement process.
The functions in all areas of the accounting process are categorised and documented. The
implemented risk management system which is developed on a running basis with the
components of compliance and internal control system is nevertheless unable to fully
guarantee the security and correctness of accounting, for instance caused by human error,
faulty controls or criminal activity by insiders.
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Dependent company report
The Management Board has drawn up a dependent company report pursuant to Section 312 (1)
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) in which it makes the following declaration :
“We herewith declare that, under the circumstances known to us at the time when
transactions were carried out, our company received commensurate compensation for each
transaction.”
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Financial and non-financial performance indicators

weclapp SE uses financial performance indicators to set goals and measure success. The
indicators also facilitate offering remuneration components, along with their implementation
and substantiation. The key financial performance indicators at weclapp include revenue,
earnings before taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) and earnings after taxes.
Non-financial performance indicators are partly not included in regular financial reporting and
do not consistently form part of corporate management. They nevertheless play an important
role in the Company’s success. Performance indicators at weclapp are essentially deployed in
the areas of online marketing and sales, research and development, employees and their
health and safety, as well as in the domain of corporate responsibility.

Online marketing and sales
weclapp has gathered long-standing experience in online marketing geared to the specific
target group, reviewed the new channels and put them to use at an early stage. It benefits
from expertise of the same calibre as in the 3U Group and two-way communication with the
Group’s experts. Management estimates that weclapp has achieved an advantageous
competitive position which underpins the Company’s current and future success.
Inbound marketing, with a focus on winning new clients and client retention, is one of
weclapp’s key success factors. The number of visitors a year to weclapp.com has stabilised
above the one million mark and increased slightly in the financial year 2020 compared with the
previous year. The proportion of registered users who sign a license agreement at the end of
the test phase has also stabilised at more than 11 %.
At the same time, weclapp SE pursues a strategy of winning customers through steadily
building up an expansion of the network of service and IT partners. These partners offer
weclapp to their customers in connection with their own services. Partners can make interface
solutions generated in the context of services available to all weclapp users via the weclapp
store. Customer segments expressing a need for greater consulting, implementation and
integration in respect of peripheral software and hardware are specifically addressed by
partners. weclapp ensures the knowledge and quality of its partners through regular training.
In the financial year 2020, partner management underwent major developments : Cooperation
agreements were concluded with a domestic (Francotyp-Postalia Holding AG) and
negotiations with a European marketing partner (Infominds AG) largely brought to completion
(the agreement was signed on 13 January 2021). These measures served to step up weclapp’s
drive towards internationalising its business in Europe. To improve coordination, weclapp SE

38

Management Report

|

Financial Statements

|

Additional Information

recruited a manager to head up partner management was recruited in the second half of the
year.
01/01–31/12
2020
Visitors to weclapp.com

01/01–31/12
2019

ca 1.4 million

ca 1.3 million

Booking of free trial access

ca 7,900

ca. 7,600

Number of new customers

868

839

ca EUR 215

ca EUR 160

Average revenue per account (ARPA)

ISO 27001 certification was carried out again in 2020. An audit conducted on the information
security management system (ISMS) confirms the high level of security and protection applied
to sensitive data and information with regard to integrity, confidentiality and availability.

Research and Development
The continuous and customer-centric development of the weclapp platform is of critical
importance for the Company’s ongoing success. weclapp SE therefore consistently sets about
strengthening its product management and development teams.
weclapp SE is relying more heavily on the development and use of algorithms for machine
learning (artificial intelligence, AI). In this area as well, development projects aimed at assisting
weclapp clients to safeguard or gain competitive advantages take centre stage. The
development team engaged in this area gained a new member in a manager recruited to head
up Research and Development in the financial year 2020. He is responsible for networking with
research facilities and associations. Furthermore, together Würzburg University’s Faculty for
Business Administration and Business Informatics, weclapp SE is in the process of laying the
foundations for developing a small unit for basic research. The unit will be staffed by weclapp
employees, along with students as well as graduate students of the University.
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Employees
Particularly in the technologically challenging mega trend of cloud computing, and in
developing ways in which to harness machine learning, highly qualified and motivated
employees are a precondition for securing the Company’s success in the long term.
Responsible personnel development and steady improvement play a key role in these
endeavours. Here weclapp draws on support from 3U HOLDING AG’s Personnel Department.
The sustainable development and targeted nurturing of each and every employee’s potential is
a core task of personnel management. Concerted personnel development is one of the ways in
which weclapp strives to enhance its attractiveness as an employer, and to reinforce the
identification of employees with the Company and their dedication to the respective goals.
Employer ratings in the pertinent Internet portals can be considered indicators of success in
this context. On kununu.com, the leading platform for anonymous employer ratings, weclapp
has been assessed with 4.2 of a possible five points. In a kununu comparison, this puts
weclapp in the top percent of the employers with the highest ratings on the platform.
weclapp was declared an “open company” and “top company”. Based on a total of 37 ratings
given for weclapp as an employer, its corporate culture was awarded 4.2 points of five points.
This rating is above the average for the IT sector which kununu indicates as 3.9 points. The
employee recommendation rate stands at 91 %.
As of 31 December 2020, weclapp employed 77 persons (including Management Board
members, temporary and part-time staff; 31 December 2019 : 66 people). Of these persons,
17 were women (2019 : 15); this corresponds to 21.1 % (2019 : 22.7 %). All age groups are
represented in the Company and are distributed as follows : 54.6 % (2019 : 60.6 %) were
employees below the age of 30, 32.5 % (2019 : 25.8 %) were aged between 30 and 40 years old,
13 % (2019 : 12.2 %) were between 40 and 50 years old. The average age in the Company was
recorded at 31.5 years (2019 : 30.3 years).
Expressed as an annual average, 69.4 persons were employed at weclapp in the financial year
2020 (excluding Management Board members, including temporary and part-time staff; 2019 :
57 people).
Converted into full-time equivalents, weclapp had a workforce of 66.8 employees as at the
end of the year (31 December 2019 : 54.7 full-time equivalents). The average annual number of
employees stood at 47.4 (full-time equivalent, excluding Management Board members
respectively; 2019 : 32.1).
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The employees make a decisive contribution with their ideas to increasing profitability and
sharpening the Company’s competitive edge. With this in mind, a cooperative and
communicative atmosphere in the Company is encouraged by motivating all employees to put
forward proposals for optimising the products and workflows, leveraging synergies and
suggesting other improvements.
The remuneration system depends on the tasks performed and is divided into fixed and
variable components so that above-average performance can be appropriately rewarded.
Fostering dedication and creativity is also ultimately aimed at retaining employees. weclapp
considers it important to maintain and ensure the experience and competence which the
employees bring to the Company, acquire through their activities and put at the disposal of
clients and the Company. These endeavours are also reflected by employee turnover. Of the
workforce, 8.6 % left the Company at their own wish in 2020 (2019 : 3.5 %). The termination of
temporary contracts was most frequent reason for employment coming to an end.

Promoting the health of the employees
weclapp’s understanding of the health as physical, mental and social well-being is aligned to
the definition of the World Health Organisation (WHO). Measures specifically designed to
ensure and promote the health of our employees are set in place. The Company thus promotes
healthcare for its employees and a healthy diet at the workplace by arranging days on which
salads are served and by providing fruit baskets. The employees have the possibility of
participating in internal and external training and continuous professional development events.
Loyalty to weclapp is strengthened through a series of measures focused on social aspects.
Safety at the workplace is promoted further through training measures. As in the preceding
years, no accident at the workplace was reported that resulted in permanent damage to an
employee’s health in the financial year 2020.
Sick leave at weclapp per employee was recorded at 3.93 days, which is significantly below
the year-earlier figure (2019 : 5.09 days).

Management Report

|

Financial Statements

|

Additional Information

41

Corporate responsibility
Corporate responsibility is an integral part of weclapp’s corporate strategy. weclapp
systematically factors in the various issues of its stakeholders and reduces the negative impact
of business on the environment. In doing so, the Company seeks to achieve a balance between
economic objectives and environmental and social responsibility. All weclapp SE employees
are under obligation to make optimal use of personnel, know-how and material resources. The
requisite information is always available to employees and personnel officers on the Intranet.
Environmental and regional aspects are taken into account in procuring products, services and
marketing material.
The training of specialists is firmly anchored in personnel policies. As of the reporting date on
31 December 2020, five of 77 persons (including Management Board members, part-time and
temporary staff) were trainees (2019 : three of 66 persons).
In the financial year 2020, weclapp SE conducted an audit on itself from the standpoint of
environmental aspects and, along with measuring its CO2 footprint, introduced measures to
compensate and reduce these aspects.
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Events after the reporting date

After the end of the reporting period, on 13 January 2021, weclapp SE concluded a
cooperation agreement with INFOCLOUD AG in Bolzano, Italy, a subsidiary of the
INFOMINDS Group which was founded for this purpose. INFOMINDS will partner to
exclusively market the cloud-based ERP platform weclapp throughout Italy.
With regard to the COVID-19 pandemic, we refer to our comments in the management report.
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Remuneration Report

The remuneration report summarises the principles applicable to determining the
remuneration of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of weclapp SE and
provides information on the amount and structure of the remuneration. The remuneration
report was prepared on the basis of the recommendations under the German Corporate
Governance Code in the version dated 7 February 2017. In addition, the report comprises
information required in accordance with the German Commercial Code, supplemented by Act
on Disclosure of Management Board Remuneration (VorstOG).

Remuneration of the Management Board
Of the Management Board members serving at weclapp in the financial year 2020, and in the
previous year, only Mr Ertan Özdil received remuneration from the Company. The structure
and the amount of this remuneration is determined by the Supervisory Board and regularly
reviewed. In this task, the Supervisory Board draws on the Act on Disclosure of Management
Board Remuneration (VorstOG) which came into force on 5 August 2009. As a member of
weclapp SE’s Management Board, Mr Özdil receives a fixed annual salary paid out in monthly
instalments. In addition, Mr Özdil also receives a variable, performance-related remuneration
component.
Performance-related remuneration consists of a quantitative target and a quantitative target.
Quantitative target attainment is assessed by the Supervisory Board in the reporting year
primarily on the basis of the audited value of EBIT or the EBT performance of the Company in
relation to the budgeted figure; exceptional developments may also be taken into account.
Qualitative target attainment is assessed by the Supervisory Board based on the Management
Board performing prioritised tasks and the personal goals set by the Supervisory Board for
members of the Management Board. At the start of the financial year, the Supervisory Board
defines targets taking account of the Company’s situation.
Part of the performance-related remuneration in the respective financial year is paid out under
the reservation that the Management Board continues to sustainably conduct the Company’s
business in the two following financial years thereafter. The stability of the Company’s
development in particular is considered when assessing sustainability. The Supervisory Board
assesses sustainability in the two financial years following the respective financial year and will
request the repayment of partial amounts of performance-related remuneration if
sustainability in managing the Company has not been ensured.
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Within the meaning of Section 87 (2) sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG),
the Supervisory Board is entitled to reduce the remuneration paid to the Management Board
to an appropriate amount if the situation of the Company deteriorates after these amounts
have been fixed and if continuing to grant the agreed amounts would be unreasonable for the
Company.
If the appointment of a Management Board member is rescinded over the course of a financial
year in accordance with Section 84 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act, there is no
entitlement to performance-related remuneration for the respective financial year, nor for any
financial years thereafter.
No pension commitments have been given to the Management Board members. The
remuneration of Mr Özdil is itemised in the following, divided up into fixed salary and
performance-related components. Mr Schmidt did not receive any amounts from the
Company.
Value of the benefits provided in the 2020 reporting year
Allowances (in kEUR)

Fixed remuneration
Fringe benefits
Sub-total
One-year variable remuneration
Multi-year variable remuneration
Total
Pension allowances
Total remuneration

Ertan Özdil
CEO
2020

2020 (min.)

2020 (max.)

2019

150

150

150

150

24

24

24

17

174

174

174

167

100

0

100

0

0

0

0

0

274

174

274

167

0

0

0

0

274

174

274

167
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Remuneration paid in the 2020 reporting year
Accruals (in kEUR)

Ertan Özdil
CEO
2020

2019

150

150

24

17

174

167

One-year variable remuneration

50

0

Multi-year variable remuneration

0

0

224

167

0

0

224

167

Fixed remuneration
Fringe benefits
Sub-total

Total
Pension allowances
Total remuneration

In addition, in the previous year (2019), Mr Özdil received kEUR 50 for the year 2018 as oneyear variable remuneration.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
Supervisory Board remuneration has not yet been agreed for weclapp SE.
The Altenburger Rechtsanwälte law firm of which Mr. Ralf Thoenes, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, is a partner did not render any consulting services in the financial year
ended. In the previous year, the Altenburger Rechtsanwälte law firm received kEUR 1.0 for
consulting services, plus value added tax.
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Assurance by the legal representatives

We give our assurance that, to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the
applicable reporting principles, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the
net assets, financial position and result of operations of the Company and that the
Management Report presents the business development, including results of operations and
the position of the Company, in a way that gives a true and fair view of the actual
circumstances, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated
with the development of the Company.

Frankfurt am Main, 26 April 2021
The Management Board

Ertan Özdil

Michael Schmidt
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Statement of financial position
Assets

Assets
weclapp SE (in kEUR)

Notes to the financial
statements [Note]

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

2,030

2,415

[2.2.7] [4.1.1]

276

93

Property, plant and equipment

[2.2.8] [4.1.2]

92

82

Right of use assets

[2.2.9] [4.1.3]

182

294

Deferred tax assets

[2.2.16] [4.2]

1,467

1,937

13

9

1,951

1,222

[2.2.14] [4.3]

89

107

Trade receivables

[4.4]

902

576

Other current assets

[4.5]

36

36

[2.2.11] [4.6]

924

503

3,981

3,637

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets
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Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
weclapp SE (in kEUR)

Notes to the financial
statements [Note]

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

[4.7]

–635

–2,287

[4.7.1]

70,120

70,120

–73,702

–73,702

Profit/loss carried forward

1,295

0

Net earnings for the period

1,652

1,295

1,878

1,011

45

134

[2.2.17]

1,833

877

[4.9]

2,738

4,913

255

835

0

1,835

Current lease liabilities

140

162

Trade payables

226

293

2,117

1,788

3,981

3,637

Shareholders’ equity
Issued capital (conditional capital kEUR 0)
Total other comprehensive income

Non-current provisions and liabilities

[4.8]

Non-current lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Current provisions and liabilities
Current income tax liabilities
Current financial liabilities

Other current liabilities

[2.2.17]

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
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Statement of income

weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Notes to the
financial statements
[Note]

Revenue

[2.2.1] [3.1]

7,327

4,645

Other income

[3.2]

37

106

Changes of finished and unfinished services

[3.3]

–20

107

Other capitalised services

[3.4]

154

0

Costs of materials

[3.5]

–164

–15

7,334

4,843

Gross profit or loss

Staff costs

[3.6]

–3,553

–2,577

Other operating expenses

[3.7]

–1,155

–1,007

2,626

1,259

–209

–171

2,417

1,088

–28

–50

2,389

1,038

–738

257

1,651

1,295

EBITDA

Depreciation and amortisation

[3.8]

EBIT

Finance costs – net

[2.2.4] [2.2.5] [3.9]

EBT

Income tax expenses

[2.2.6] [3.10]

Net earnings for the period

52
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Statement of comprehensive income

weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Financial year
01/01–31/12
2020
2019

Net earnings for the period

1,652

1,295

Changes recognised directly in equity
that may be reclassified to the income statement in the future

0

0

Changes recognised directly in equity
that cannot be reclassified to the income statement in the future

0

0

Change in the amount recognised in equity

0

0

1,652

1,295

Total comprehensive income of the period
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Statement of changes in equity

weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Notes
to the financial
statements [4.7]

Issued
capital

Capital
reserve

Retained earnings
profit/loss carried forward
and net earnings

625

246

–4,468

Total earnings 2019

0

0

1,295

Other earnings 2019

0

0

0

Merger and capital increase

69,495

–246

4,468

As of 31 December 2019

70,120

0

1,295

Issued
capital

Capital
reserve

Retained earnings
profit/loss carried forward
and net earnings

70,120

0

1,295

Total earnings 2020

0

0

1,652

Other earnings 2020

0

0

0

70,120

0

2,947

As of 1 January 2019

weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Notes
to the financial
statements [4.7]

As of 1 January 2020

As of 31 December 2020
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Total other comprehensive income

Adjustment item
from merger

Total
shareholders’
equity

Exchange rate differences

Hedging instruments

0

0

0

–3,597

0

0

0

1,295

0

0

0

0

0

0

–73,702

15

0

0

–73,702

–2,287

Adjustment item
from merger

Total
shareholders’
equity

Total other comprehensive income
Exchange rate differences

Hedging instruments

0

0

–73,702

–2,287

0

0

0

1,652

0

0

0

0

0

0

–73,702

–635
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Statement of cash flows

weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Notes
to the financial
statements [5]

Net earnings for the period

1,652

1,295

209

172

–308

–474

–67

237

+/– Changes other receivables

–5

–21

+/– Changes to other payables

1,286

785

–110

–257

6

8

2,663

1,745

–34

–19

–223

–84

–257

–103

2,406

1,642

+/– Depreciation/write-ups of property, plant and equipment
–/+ Increase/decrease in inventories and trade receivables
+/– Increase/decrease in trade payables

+/– Change in tax assets/liabilities including deferred taxes
+/– Other non-cash changes

Cash flows from operating activities

– Outflows for investments in property, plant and equipment
– Outflows for investments in intangible assets

Cash flows from investing activities

Sum carried forward*

* Refer to following page
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weclapp SE
(in kEUR)

Notes
to the financial
statements [5]

Carryover*

Financial year
01/01–31/12
2020
2019

2,406

1,642

0

15

–1,835

–1,315

–150

–139

–1,985

–1,439

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

421

203

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

503

300

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

924

503

+ Cash inflow from additions to equity
(capital increases, sale of treasury shares etc.)
– Repayment of borrowings
– Repayment of leasing liabilities

Cash flows from financing activities

* Refer to previous page
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1 General information about weclapp SE

weclapp SE (hereinafter also referred to as the Company), headquartered in Frankfurt am
Main, was founded on 23 November 2018 under the name of Atrium 141. Europäische VV SE as
a European Stock Company (Societas Europaea) (Atrium) and is listed in the local commercial
register under HRB 114007.
The purpose of the Company is the development and distribution of software and the
operation of all related ancillary business.
The address of the company is : Neue Mainzer Straße 66–68, 60311 Frankfurt am Main,
Germany.

58

Management Report

|

Financial Statements

|

Additional Information

2 Accounting and valuation policies

2.1 Accounting principles
The financial statements of weclapp SE for the 2020 financial year were drawn up in
accordance with the accounting standards of the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The IFRS applicable as of
31 December 2020 were observed and the interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Committee (IFRIC) were also applied. The annual financial statements comprise all
the information required by IFRS adopted by the European Union (EU) and by the analogous
application of Section 315e (3) and (1) in conjunction with Section 325 (2a) of the German
Commercial Code (HGB). Separate reference is made to any pronouncements if applied
prematurely.
The annual financial statements were prepared on the basis of amortised acquisition and
production costs as there were no assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value, neither in
the financial years presented, nor as of the balance sheet date.
The presentation of the statement of financial position distinguishes between current and noncurrent assets and liabilities, which are generally broken down further into their respective
maturities in the notes to the financial statements. In addition to the income statement, the
statement of financial position and the cash flow statement, changes in shareholders’ equity
are also shown. The income statement has been prepared using the total cost method.
The financial statements of weclapp SE provide a true and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and result of operations.
The financial statements were prepared in euros. The figures are shown in the financial
statements in thousands of euros (kEUR) and were rounded up to whole kEUR. For arithmetical
reasons, rounding differences amounting to +/– one unit (kEUR, % etc.) may occur.
weclapp’s financial year corresponds to the calendar year. The financial statements are
prepared under the assumption of going concern.
Newly applied accounting standards
weclapp SE took into account all standards and interpretations issued by the IASB which were
in force as of 31 December 2020 and adopted into EU law.
According to the assessment of the Management Board, the initial application of further
standards and interpretations has not led to any changes in the net assets, financial position
and result of operations.
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There are currently no new accounting pronouncements published by the IASB and adopted
into EU law.
The IASB has published a series of further announcements, but these have not yet been
enacted under EU law.
• Amendments to IFRS 17 : “Insurance Contracts” (1 January 2023)*
• Amendments to IAS 1 : “Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current (1 January 2023)*
• Amendments to IFRS 3 : “Business Combinations – Reference to Conceptual Framework”
(1 January 2022)*
• Amendments to IAS 16 : “Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use”
(1 January 2022)*
• Amendments to IAS 37 : “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets – Onerous
Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract” (1 January 2022)*
• Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 : “Annual Improvements Cycle (2018–2020)”
(1 January 2022)
• Amendments to IFRS 4 : “Insurance Contracts – Applying of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts” (1 January 2021)*
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 : “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
(Phase 2)” (1 January 2021)*
*Applicable to financial years commencing on or as from the date indicated.

The individual effects of the changes are examined by the parent company 3U HOLDING AG
for the Group. In particular, we do not expect any notable impact from IFRS 17, IFRS 3, IAS 16,
IAS 37, IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41.

2.2 Accounting and valuation principles
2.2.1 Basic principles of sales recognition
The accounting policies for the recognition of revenue are as follows :
Classes of revenue
The revenue of weclapp SE mainly includes revenues from the granting of usage rights for a
limited period of time in connection with cloud-based CRM and ERP solutions (revenue from
Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) offerings) as well as revenue from services. In the case of SaaS
offers, customers do not have the right to terminate the hosting contract and take possession
of the software in order to operate it on their own IT infrastructure or to commission a hosting
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provider other than weclapp SE to host and manage the software.
Identification of a contract
A contract is an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and
obligations and states that enforceability is a matter of law. weclapp SE’s contracts for the
cloud-based solutions are essentially concluded in the context of online transactions by the
customers via weclapp SE’s order platform. Revenues from a contract concluded are
recorded/deferred over the agreed contract period.
Contracts for the provision of services are concluded in writing.
For revenue recognition purposes, a contract which provides for a right of termination by the
customer and no associated material adverse payments to the customer is recognised only for
the period not subject to the right of termination.
Identification of the obligation to perform
weclapp SE’s customer contracts generally only comprise the rights of use for the respective
cloud-based solution concluded; contracts for additional services are agreed separately in
writing. As a rule, the rights of use and services described in the previous section entitled
“Classes of revenue” are to be classified as separate performance obligations. The portion of
the contract price allocated to them is recorded separately, as these are also agreed
separately.
Realisation of sales revenue
Revenue from SaaS offers is recorded by weclapp SE over the period during which the
customer can use the software.
Services invoiced on the basis of hours worked are realised depending on the service provided
by weclapp SE. Sales revenue and contracts for work and services where a fixed price has
been agreed are not recognised before the service has been rendered in full if the service
provided by weclapp SE creates an asset that does not offer alternative uses for the customers
or if weclapp SE has a legal claim to payment for the services already rendered.
weclapp SE’s contracts do not generally contain any obligations to take back, reimburse or
similar.
2.2.2 Total costs
The total costs comprise all costs incurred during the year under review.
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2.2.3 Research and development costs
Costs relating to software development are expensed as incurred in the income statement.
The technological feasibility of a product is only reached shortly before it is ready to go to
market. In the phase leading up to technological feasibility, the processes between the
research and development stages are iteratively closely interlinked. Research and development expenses incurred after technological feasibility are insignificant. Development expenses
incurred by standard-based customised development projects (in respect of which the IAS 38
criteria are cumulatively fulfilled) are capitalised to a certain limited extent and written down
over the estimated useful life. In the 2020 financial year, development costs for standardrelated customer-specific development projects were capitalised in the amount of EUR 0.2 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million) (see 4.1.1). Research and development costs of EUR 1.8 million were generated at weclapp SE in the financial year 2020 (previous year : EUR 1.4 million).
2.2.4 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method at the time when it is
incurred. The effective interest rate is defined as the interest rate used to discount the
expected future inflows over the term of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of
these assets.
2.2.5 Interest expenses
Pursuant to the provisions of IAS 23, interest expenses for qualifying assets are capitalised as
part of the cost of production if producing these assets requires a longer period of time. As in
the previous year, no interest expenses were capitalised in the financial year 2020.
Interest expenses are recognised using the effective interest rate method at the time they
arise. The effective interest rate is the interest rate used to discount the expected future
outflows over the term of the financial liabilities to the net carrying amount of these liabilities.
2.2.6 Income taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method in accordance with IAS 12. Tax
expenses and refunds which depend on income and profit are recorded as income taxes.
Current taxes are recognised for income taxes owed at the time when they are incurred.
Deferred taxes comprise expected tax payments or refunds from temporary valuation
differences between the book value as accounted for under IFRS and the tax balance sheet
and from the future use of loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates applicable in the future, whereby changes in tax rates are generally not taken
into account until the change in the law comes into force. If the realisability of deferred tax
assets does not appear sufficiently probable in the future, they are not recognised.
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2.2.7 Other intangible assets
Intangible assets are capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 (“Intangible Assets”) if it is
probable that the use of the asset will result in a future economic benefit and the costs of the
asset can be reliably determined. Intangible assets are measured at cost less scheduled
straight-line depreciation and impairment losses. Scheduled depreciation is reported under
the depreciation and amortisation item.
Depreciable intangible assets are in principle written down over a useful life of three to five
years.
Reference is made to Note 4.1.1.
2.2.8 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reported at amortised cost pursuant to IAS 16. If property,
plant or equipment are sold or retired, their acquisition costs and accumulated depreciation
are eliminated from the statement of financial position and the gain or loss resulting from their
sale is posted to the income statement.
The original acquisition or production cost of property, plant and equipment includes the
purchase price plus additional acquisition costs and subsequent acquisition costs, as well as
the present value of restoration obligations. If the requirements are met, financing costs
pursuant to IAS 23 are included in the cost of the assets.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives,
taking account of the residual value and reported under the depreciation item :
Office equipment

3–13 years

Operating equipment

4 years

Leasehold improvements

Term of the rental agreement

The useful lives and depreciation methods applied are examined in each period to ensure that
the depreciation methods and the depreciation period are consistent with the anticipated
economic benefit from property, plant and equipment. If the acquisition costs of certain
components of an item of property, plant and equipment are material measured against the
total acquisition and production costs, weclapp SE recognises and depreciates these
components individually.
Reference is made to Note 4.1.2.
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2.2.9 Rights of use
Rights of use are reported in accordance with IFRS 16. These relate to rights of use to land and
buildings amounting to kEUR 143 (previous year : kEUR 360) and rights of use to other
equipment, furniture and fixtures amounting to kEUR 39 (previous year : kEUR 57).
The rights of use are amortised over there useful life or the term of the contract, whichever is
shorter. The rights of use in weclapp SE had a term
of up to five years as of 31 December 2020.
Reference is made to Notes 2.2.12 and 4.1.3.
2.2.10 Borrowing costs
Reference is made to Note 4.8.
2.2.11 Financial instruments
The recognition and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (financial instruments) of
the financial year is performed in accordance with IAS 9. The FVPL option (option for applying
fair value to financial instruments) has been waived.
Classification and measurement
IFRS 9 defines three categories for measuring financial assets :
• Financial assets measured at amortised cost
• Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss
• Financial assets measured at fair value with no effect on income
Classification under IFRS 9 is contingent on the fulfilment of the cash flow criterion according
to which the contractual cash flows consist exclusively of interest and repayment and of the
fulfilment of the business model criterion under which classification is carried out depending
on the management of financial assets to generate cash flows.
The accounting and measurement of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 comprise the following
categories :
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost
• Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss
Under IFRS 9, when a financial instrument is initially recognised as of the settlement date, it is
measured at cost which corresponds to the fair value of the consideration surrendered.
Transaction costs are included unless the financial instrument is recognised at fair value
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through profit and loss. Upon initial recognition, they are also classified in one of the
aforementioned measurement categories.
During the period under review and on the reporting date, weclapp SE did not have any
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss in its portfolio. This
category of financial instruments generally includes financial assets and liabilities held for
trading. These are measured at fair value. They primarily include derivative financial
instruments which are not embedded in an effective hedging relationship pursuant to IFRS 9.
Any gain or loss resulting from subsequent measurement, including from interest and
dividend, is recognised in the income statement.
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or
liabilities that cumulatively meet the following conditions :
• The financial instrument is held as part of a business model whose objective is to hold the
financial instrument in order to generate contractual cash flows, and
• contractual terms lead to cash flows on predefined dates which consist exclusively of
interest and repayment of the nominal amount.
Following initial recognition, the financial instruments measured at amortised cost are valued
at amortised cost in application of the effective interest method, less any impairment. Gains
and losses in the period are recorded through profit and loss if they are derecognised or
impaired or if their value is lower due to amortisation.
Loans and obligations taken up by the Company are measured at fair value upon initial
recognition and in subsequent years at amortised cost in application of the effective interest
method
Financial instruments, such as cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade
payables, prepayments made and received, loans and other financial assets and liabilities are
measured at amortised cost which corresponds to their fair values based on their maturity.
Debt instruments are measured at fair value with no effect on income if the following
conditions are cumulatively met and they have not been designated at fair value through profit
and loss :
• The financial instrument is held as part of a business model whose objective is to generate
cash flows both from holding and from the disposal of the financial instrument, and
• contractual terms lead to cash flows on predefined dates which consist exclusively of
interest and repayment of the nominal amount.
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Following initial recognition, they are measured at fair value. Interest is measured in
application of the effective interest method, less any impairment. Other gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). When a financial instrument is
derecognised, the amounts in OCI are reposted to the income statement.
No debt instruments were held or disposed of in the reporting period or as of the balance
sheet date.
Upon the initial recognition of an equity instrument not held for trading, the Company may
elect to record changes in fair value irrevocably in OCI. The choice of this option applies per
equity instrument. After initial recognition at fair value, dividends are recorded in the income
statement, unless dividend clearly represents a write-up to the acquisition costs of the
investment. Other gains and losses are recorded in OCI and are not reposted to the statement
of income even if the financial instrument is derecognised.
No equity instruments were held or disposed of in the reporting period or as of the balance
sheet date.
Reclassifications following initial recognition is only made if the Company changes its business
model in relation to generating cash flows of financial assets.
Impairment of financial assets
In determining the impairment in respect of financial assets, the “Expected Credit Losses
Model” under IFRS 9 which is based on expected loss is applied. The impairment model is to
be applied to financial assets measured at amortised cost, to contract assets and debt
instruments measured at fair value in equity, with no effect on income. In principle, the new
impairment model results in earlier recognition of risk provisions.
Under IFRS 9, all expected credit losses on the aforementioned assets are accounted for by
means of impairment losses. The general model prescribed by IFRS 9 (three-stage model,
starting with the “12-month model of expected credit losses”) is generally applied or the
simplified model (expected credit losses over the entire lifetime) to trade receivables and
contract assets.
In accordance with the general approach, financial assets are considered to have a low default
risk upon addition, for which a risk provision in the amount of the expected credit loss in the
next 12 months must be recognised. In the event of a significant increase in the default risk,
expected credit losses are to be recognised over the lifetime. One indicator of such an

66

Management Report

|

Financial Statements

|

Additional Information

increase is when a debtor is more than 30 days in arrears. If there are objective indications,
such as insolvency, appropriate value adjustments are recorded.
weclapp SE assesses expected credit losses for cash and cash equivalents and other financial
assets, with the exception of trade receivables, in accordance with the general approach.
These expected credit losses are examined on a quarterly basis to ascertain if there has been a
deterioration in the credit quality that would result in a change in the classification.
The simplified approach is to be applied to trade receivables and contract assets which do not
comprise any material financing components. Accordingly, expected credit losses are to be
recognised over the lifetime.
There was no impairment loss for cash and cash equivalents in the reporting year.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement under other operating expenses. In
accordance with IAS 1.29, a separate item is not included in the income statement due to
materiality.
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognised when
• the rights to the cash flows have expired or
• assigned, and the Company has essentially transferred all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership, or
• the risks and rewards were neither transferred nor retained, but the Company has
transferred the power of disposal over them.
Financial liabilities are derecognised if
• underlying contractual obligations are settled, cancelled or have expired.
Disclosure of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally not shown net; they are only offset when,
in respect of the amounts at the present point in time, there is a right of offsetting and an
intention to settle on a net basis. Financial assets and liabilities were not offset in the current
financial year.
2.2.12 Leases
Under the IFRS 16 single accounting model, weclapp SE as lessee must report assets and
liabilities for most leases in the statement of financial position. Only short-term leases and
leased assets of minor value were not recognised.
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IFRS 16 defines a lease as a contract under which the right to use (in terms of control) an
identified asset (right of use) is transferred for an agreed period of time for a fee or for a
consideration. The leased asset must be identifiable and weclapp SE as lessee must be able to
control it.
For all leasing relationships, weclapp SE as lessee recognises a right of use for an asset and a
leasing liability at the time when the lessor transfers the asset to weclapp SE for use.
The lease term is based on the contractual agreement. Extension options are taken into
account if they are to be exercised with sufficient certainty.
weclapp SE as lessee must recognise the leasing liability in the amount of the present value of
the future lease payments at the inception of the lease. The lease payments are composed of
the following components :
• Fixed lease payments over the lease term
• Variable lease payments which depend on the development of an index or price
• Expected payments for residual value guarantees
• Exercise price of a call option, if exercise is sufficiently certain
• Penalties for premature termination of a contract if there is sufficient certainty that the
lessee is likely to exercise this option.
The interest rate on which the lease is based or the marginal borrowing cost rate of weclapp
SE is to be used for the valuation.
At the time of acquisition, weclapp SE as lessee must measure the right of use at acquisition
cost which consists of the following components :
• Acquisition value of the leasing liability
• Lease payments made before or at the beginning of the lease, less incentive payments in
favour of the lessee
• Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.
The lease liability is subsequently measured in accordance with the provisions for financial
instruments under IFRS 9 using the effective interest method, i. e. the carrying amount of the
lease liability is discounted using the interest rate used for discounting and reduced by the
lease payments made. This results in a declining interest rate.
The right of use is amortised on a scheduled basis over the useful life or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter.
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This is reported separately in the income statement as depreciation of the asset and interest
from the liability.
Under the previous regulations of IAS 17, a lease was classified as a finance lease if essentially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership were transferred to the lessee. The
classification of leases was therefore dependent on the economic content of the agreement
and not on a specific formal form of contract.
Assets held under a finance lease were initially recognised as assets of the Company at their
fair value at the beginning of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. They were depreciated over the term of the lease agreement or the useful life of the
leased asset, whichever was shorter. The corresponding liability to the lessor was shown in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
The lease payments were divided into interest expenses and repayment of the lease obligation
so that a constant interest rate was achieved for the remaining liability. Interest expenses were
recorded directly in the income statement.
In accordance with the previous rules under IAS 17, rental payments from operating leases
were recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis more closely reflected the time pattern of benefits to the lessee.
2.2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Company’s property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets are subject to an
impairment test at least on each reporting date to ascertain whether there are any indications
of impairment. In the event of such indications, the recoverable amount for the asset is
determined in order to calculate of any appropriate impairment charge. If the assets do not
generate any cash flows essentially independently of other assets, the recoverable amount for
the individual asset value is determined at the level of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or of a cash-generating unit) is below its carrying
amount, the latter is reduced to the recoverable amount. The impairment amount must be
recognised immediately in profit and loss. If write-ups are required in accordance with IAS 36,
they are recognised through profit and loss.
Write-ups are made to the newly determined recoverable amount. However, the write-up is
limited to the amount that would have been the carrying amount if no impairment loss had
been recognised.
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2.2.14 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is generally determined
by individual valuation or using the average cost method. Production costs include directly
attributable costs and production-related material and manufacturing overheads as well as
depreciation. Inventory risks resulting from limited usability or significant storage periods are
taken into consideration by making appropriate value adjustments.
2.2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised if there is a legal or constructive obligation to third parties arising
from a past event, if it is probable that the obligation will be claimed, and if the expected
amount of the future cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The amount of provisions for
legal disputes is generally based on the Management Board’s best judgment of the outcome of
the dispute based on the facts known as of the reporting date. As in the previous year no
provisions had been formed as of the balance sheet date.
2.2.16 Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in accordance with IAS 12 (“Income Taxes”)
for all temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the IFRS statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is likely that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised. The basis for this is the forecast of the taxable earnings
which are derived from the three-year planning approved by management. The assessment
and measurement of deferred tax assets is reviewed on each reporting date, taking the current
estimations into account in accordance with IAS 12.37 and IAS 12.56.
Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses carried forward are capitalised to the extent that it is
sufficiently probable that the Company will generate taxable income in the future sufficient to
use those tax loss carryforwards.
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates which apply at the time of
realisation or which are to be applied in the future. Changes in deferred taxes are recognised
as tax income or expense in the income statement, unless they relate to items recognised
directly in equity; in this case, deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
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2.2.17 Other non-financial liabilities
Other non-financial liabilities encompass tax liabilities, liabilities to employees and
miscellaneous other liabilities. They are initially recognised at the repayment amount,
discounted if necessary. Foreign currency liabilities are measured at the exchange rate on the
balance sheet date.
2.2.18 Determination of fair value
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the
transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants received on the
measurement date.
The measurement of fair value pertains to a specific asset or a specific liability respectively.
Consequently, in measuring fair value, the characteristics of the asset or liability are
considered that a market participant would take into account in pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date.
Such characteristics include the following, but are not limited to :
(a) condition and location of the asset, and
(b) restrictions on the disposal or use of the asset.
A measurement hierarchy is established to enhance consistency and comparability in
measuring fair value and related disclosures (fair value hierarchy). This hierarchy divides the
input factors used in the valuation methods for measuring fair value into three levels. Within
this measurement hierarchy, quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities are (input factors at Level 1) are given the highest priority, while unobservable
input factors are given the lowest priority (input factors at Level 3).
Level 2 inputs are quoted are market prices other than those in Level 1 which are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
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3 Notes to the statement of income

3.1 Revenues
Revenues comprise the following :
Revenues (in kEUR)
Revenues from cloud applications
Other revenues (contracts for works and services)
Total

2020

2019

6,719

4,334

608

311

7,327

4,645

Reference is made to Note 2.2.1 for information on default risk.
In the current financial year, an amount of kEUR 1,898 was realised as sales revenue from
existing customer contracts as of 31 December 2019. From existing customer contracts as of
31 December 2020, kEUR 2,956 are expected in 2021 and kEUR 520 in 2022.

3.2 Other income
Other income is made up as follows :
Other income (in kEUR)

2020

2019

Income from the reduction of value adjustments

17

48

Remuneration in kind

8

38

Income relating to other periods

7

5

Insurance compensation

0

6

Other income

5

9

37

106

Total

Income from the reduction of allowances is offset by expenses from losses on receivables and
from allowances for doubtful accounts.
The benefits in kind for the use of a car and other benefits are shown in a net amount
essentially under personnel expenses in the financial year 2020. In the previous year, these
benefits were disclosed under other income.
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3.3 Changes in inventory
Changes in inventories amounting to kEUR –20 (previous year : kEUR 107) comprise unfinished
services from an IT consulting project.

3.4 Own work capitalised
Own work capitalised amounts to kEUR 154 (previous year : kEUR 0). This consists of
capitalised development costs incurred in the context of standard-based customised
development projects.

3.5 Cost of materials
The cost of materials mainly comprises expenses for purchased services and user fees :
Cost of materials (in kEUR)

2020

2019

Cost of purchased services

164

15

164

15

2020

2019

3,035

2,144

518

433

3,553

2,577

Total

3.6 Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses comprise the following :
Personnel expenses (in kEUR)
Wages and salaries
Social security contributions
Total
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The average number of employees (basis : head count) stood at :
weclapp SE

2020

2019

Software development

33.25

29.50

Sales and marketing

15.00

12.50

Customer success

15.75

12.25

Administration/staff

4.50

1.75

68.50

56.00

Total

In addition to employer contributions to statutory pension insurance, unemployment insurance
and health insurance, the social contributions also include expenses for compensation
contributions and contributions to the employer’s liability insurance association. Expenses for
employers’ payments to the statutory pension insurance amounted to kEUR 241 (previous year :
kEUR 183). No performance-oriented pension commitments were made.

3.7 Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses include the following items :
weclapp SE (in kEUR)

2020

2019

Technical consultancy costs

321

189

External services/third party work

284

226

Sales commissions/brookerage fees

98

55

Annual financial statements costs and audit fees

65

0

Premises expenses/rental expenses

61

59

Promotion and hospitality costs

51

136

Loss of receivables

50

62

Travel and automobile costs

38

63

Maintenance

26

15

8

68

153

134

1,155

1,007

Other consulting costs
Other operating expenses
Total

Other operating expenses include expenses from currency translation of kEUR –1 (previous
year : kEUR 0).
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3.8 Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment amounted
to kEUR 64 (previous year : kEUR 38). Depreciation and amortisation have therefore risen
considerably compared with the previous year, especially in respect of intangible assets.
Depreciation and amortisation also includes the amortisation of rights of use to be recognised
under IFRS 16. The rights of use are generally amortised over there useful life or the term of the
contract, whichever is shorter. The amortisation of rights of use amounts to kEUR 145 (previous
year : kEUR 134).

3.9 Financial result
This item comprises interest from current and loan accounts. The financial result also includes
interest expenses from leasing liabilities in an amount of kEUR 5 (previous year : kEUR 8).
Financial result (in kEUR)

2020

2019

0

0

0

0

–23

–42

–5

–8

Interest expenses

–28

–50

Total

–28

–50

2020

2019

Current income tax expense

–268

–835

Deferred taxes

–470

1,092

–738

257

Interest and similar income
Interest income

Interest expenses for financial liabilities
Interest expenses for leasing liabilities

3.10 Income taxes expenses
Income taxes include both taxes paid or owed on income and deferred taxes.
Income taxes (in kEUR)

Total
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weclapp SE is subject to corporate tax and trade tax. In the financial year 2020, profit was
subject to corporation tax of 15 % plus a 5.5 % solidarity surcharge. In 2020, the trade tax
amounted to 16.1 % of trade income in Frankfurt, 14 % in Marburg and to 12.6 % in Kitzingen.
The income tax rate for weclapp SE was set at an average 29.685 % (previous year : 29.125 %).
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity amounted to kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0).
In accordance with IAS 12.81, the following overview contains a reconciliation between the tax
expense calculated by applying the German tax rates to the reported pre-tax profit for the year
and the actual tax expense in these financial statements :
Reconciliation statement

2020
kEUR

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

2020
%

2019
kEUR

2019
%

2,389

100.0

1,038

100.0

709

29.7

302

29.1

Non-deductible expenses/
tax-exempt income

7

0.3

5

0.5

Depreciation for future tax purposes

0

0.0

1,661

160.0

Out-of-period tax effects

13

0.5

0

0.0

Tax burden from structuring (merger)

0

0.0

–2,225

–214.4

Effects from changes in tax rates

9

0.4

0

0.0

738

30.9

–257

–24.8

Earnings tax rate
(29.685 %; previous year : 29.125 %)

Calculated tax income/expenses

Effective tax income (–)
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4 Notes to the statement of financial position

4.1 Non-current assets
The development of individual non-current items and depreciation, amortisation and
impairment in the current financial year are presented separately in the statement of changes
in non-current assets (Appendix to the Notes).
4.1.1 Intangible assets
The carrying amounts of intangible assets stood at kEUR 276 (previous year: kEUR 93).
The intangible assets acquired against payment are valued at cost less accumulated
amortisation using the straight line method. These relate primarily to rights of use and
software licenses and purchased software solutions. We refer to the amortisation in the
income statement.
Internally generated intangible assets were recognised at their development cost, which
includes costs directly attributable for employees and purchased services. Upon completion,
they are written down on a scheduled straight-line basis over their expected useful life of ten
years.
4.1.2 Property, plant and equipment
Please refer to the statement of changes in non-current assets for the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment. Essentially, these consist of technical equipment and office
equipment.
4.1.3 Rights of use and policing liabilities
In accordance with IFRS 16, rights of use under leases amounting to kEUR 182 (previous year :
kEUR 294) were reported under non-current assets as of 31 December 2020. Rights of use
were mainly recognised for leases in which the weclapp SE as the lessee has concluded
agreements for vehicle leasing and rent for buildings. There are renewal options of five years
under a rental agreement for commercial premises. There are no other renewal or purchase
options.
As of 31 December 2020, non-current lease liabilities of kEUR 45 (previous year : kEUR 134) and
current lease liabilities of KEUR 140 (previous year : kEUR 162) were reported.
In accordance with IFRS 16.6, liabilities for current leases and leases for an asset of minor value
are not recognised as lease liabilities but reported as current expenses. Expenses for current
leases amount to kEUR 25 in the 2020 financial year (previous year : kEUR 0). Leases for an
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asset of minor value incurred expenses of kEUR 0.4 in the 2020 financial year (previous year :
kEUR 0).
Expenses of variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability
amounted to kEUR 0 in the 2020 financial year (previous year : kEUR 0).
Cash outflows for leases which were recognised as lease liabilities and those which were not
recognised as current leases or as leases for a low-value asset amounted to kEUR 176 in the
financial year 2020 (previous year : kEUR 139).

4.2 Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are calculated after accounting for temporary differences under the liability
method in accordance with IAS 12.
weclapp SE utilises the netting option provided for by IAS 12 whereby deferred tax assets and
liabilities are reported net if they relate to the same tax authority (for the relevant taxable
entity). In the reporting year, deferred tax liabilities were offset against deferred tax assets on
loss carryforwards in an amount of kEUR 61 (previous year : kEUR 88).
The deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date are as follows :
Deferred taxes (in kEUR)

31/12/2020
Deferred
tax assets

Intangible assets

Deferred
tax liabilities

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax liabilities

1,470

0

1,661

0

Rights of use

0

54

0

87

Other assets

0

3

0

1

58

4

89

0

0

0

275

0

Sub-total

1,528

61

2,025

88

Netting

–61

–61

–88

–88

1,467

0

1,937

0

Liabilities
Loss carryforwards

Total
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4.3 Inventories
Inventories comprise unfinished services from an IT consulting project.

4.4 Trade receivables
Trade receivables consist of the following :
weclapp SE (in kEUR)

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

943

616

41

40

902

576

Trade receivables net of valuation allowances
Valuation allowances
Total

Trade receivables include receivables from affiliated companies of kEUR 8 (previous year :
kEUR 111).
Uniform valuation allowances are recognised on receivables depending on the recoverability of
the receivables and customer credit standing.
weclapp SE writes off trade receivables which have been outstanding for more than one year
or where a debt collection agency has stated that they are unrecoverable or where default is
most probably to be expected. The procedure is supported by past experience which indicates
that no payment can generally be expected if trade receivables have been outstanding for
more than one year.
In determining the value of trade receivables, account is taken of every change in creditworthiness from the time the credit period was granted until the balance sheet date. No
significant credit risk clusters exist since the customer base is wide with regard to nonimpaired receivables. Accordingly, the Management Board is convinced that no provisions
above and beyond the impairment charges already recognised are required.
The impairment charges include individual write-downs on trade receivables of kEUR 41
(previous year : kEUR 40) due from debtors against which insolvency proceedings have been
opened and where receivables are older than one year and default is highly probable. The
recognised impairment is the result of the difference between the carrying amount of the
receivable and the present value of the anticipated liquidation.
The carrying amount of trade receivables is the fair value.
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weclapp SE’s most important financial assets consist of bank balances and cash in hand,
trade and other receivables. weclapp SE’s default risk mainly results from trade receivables.
The amounts of the statement of financial position include the valuation allowance for
expected uncollectible receivables based on management’s experience and estimations of the
Company’s current economic environment. The default risk regarding cash and cash
equivalents is limited as these are held by banks which have high credit ratings from
international rating agencies.

4.5 Other current assets
The carrying amount of other assets corresponds to their fair value.
Reference is made to Note 6.2 for information on default risk.

4.6 Cash and cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalents position comprises bank balances and short-term deposits with
an original term of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets corresponds to
their fair value.

4.7 Equity
4.7.1 Subscribed capital
Through a merger agreement dated 15 March 2019, the assets of weclapp GmbH, Marburg,
were transferred as a whole with all rights and obligations by way of merger by absorption to
weclapp SE. In return, the Company granted the shareholders of weclapp GmbH shares in the
Company. The assets of weclapp GmbH were transferred effective from the end of
31 December 2018. As of 1 January 2019, until the date of the termination of weclapp GmbH
pursuant to Section 20 (1) item 2 of the German Transformation Act (UmwG), all actions and
transactions of weclapp GmbH are deemed to be for the account of the Company.
In order to implement the merger, the share capital of the weclapp SE totalling 120,000.00
(120,000 registered shares worth EUR 1.00 each) was increased by EUR 70,000,000.00 to
EUR 70,120,000.00 by issuing a total of 70,000,000 new registered shares of EUR 1.00 each in
accordance with Section 69 of the German Transformation Act (UmwG).
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Owing to the fact that the merger of weclapp GmbH by way of absorption into weclapp SE did
not constitute a company acquisition but a transaction under joint control (reorganisation with
the Group without economic substance), no hidden reserves were disclosed in the IFRS
separate financial statements.
4.7.2 Other equity positions
weclapp GmbH’s assets and liabilities were included at their book values. The difference
between assets less the liabilities (net assets) of weclapp GmbH and the capital increase
carried out in the context of the merger was disclosed as an adjustment item from the merger
under Other equity items. In addition, the costs of kEUR 105 incurred by the capital increase
were reported directly in equity under the adjustment item.
Determination of the adjustment item as of 1 January 2019 :
weclapp GmbH (in kEUR)

01/01/2019

Assets of weclapp GmbH

1,489

Liabilities of weclapp GmbH

5,086

Net assets of weclapp GmbH

–3,597

Capital increase

70,000

Difference

–73,597

Cost of the capital increase

–105

Adjustment item

–73,702

4.7.3 Retained earnings
Retained earnings of kEUR 1,295 as of 31 December 2020 consisted of the annual result of the
financial year 2019.
4.7.4 Result for the period
As of 31 December 2020, weclapp SE had generated a result of kEUR 1,652 in the financial
year 2020 (31 December 2019 : kEUR 1,295).
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4.8 Financial liabilities and other non-current liabilities
As in the previous year, the company has no non-current financial liabilities.
Current financial liabilities resulted in the previous year from a loan extended by the parent
company 3U HOLDING AG. This loan was fully repaid in the 2020 financial year and its
carrying value was therefore kEUR 0 as of 31 December 2020 (previous year : kEUR 1,835).
Other non-current liabilities also include the non-current portion of contractual (prepaid usage
fees under SaaS customer contracts) obligations (kEUR 1,833; previous year : kEUR 877).

4.9 Other current liabilities and current income tax liabilities
These comprise the following :
Other liabilities (in kEUR)

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

1,647

1,328

Income tax liabilities

255

835

Other tax liabilities

204

348

Staff obligations

204

91

62

21

2,372

2,623

Contract liabilities (current)

Other liabilities
Total

Other current liabilities also include the current portion of contractual (prepaid usage fees
under SaaS customer contracts) obligations.

4.10 Provisions/accrued liabilities
As in the previous year, no provisions existed of 31 December 2020.
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4.11 Reporting on financial instruments
The following table shows a breakdown of carrying amounts according to the measurement
categories and classes of IFRS 9 as of 31 December 2020 :
In kEUR

Evaluation
category
according to
IFRS 9

Carrying
amount
as of
31/12/2020

Carrying
amount
as of
31/12/2019

AC

13

9

Trade receivables

AC

902

576

Other assets

AC

36

36

Cash and cash equivalents

AC

924

503

Financial assets at amortised cost

AC

1,875

1,124

n. a.

45

134

AC

1,833

877

AC

0

1,835

Current trade liabilities

AC

226

293

Other liabilities

AC

2,372

2,623

n. a.

140

162

AC

4,431

5,628

Assets
Non-current financial assets
Other
Trade receivables and other receivables

Liabilities
Non-current leasing liabilities
Non-current trade liabilities and other liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Other
Current trade liabilities and other liabilities

Current leasing liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
AC = Amortized cost
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Liabilities are divided into non-current liabilities of kEUR 1,878 (previous year : kEUR 1,011) and
current liabilities of kEUR 2,738 (previous year : kEUR 4,913). The total interest expense/income
from financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss amounted to kEUR 0 in
the financial year 2020 (previous year : kEUR 0).
Net losses incurred by write-downs due to potential default risks, including changes in value
adjustments from loans and receivables, amounted to kEUR 17 (previous year : kEUR 6).
With respect to financial assets which are neither past their due date nor impaired, there were
no indications of potential impairment as of the balance sheet date.
The maximum default risk of all financial assets results from their book values. For more
detailed information, reference is made to Notes 4.4 and 4.5.
The overdue trade receivables of kEUR 337 (previous year : kEUR 262) which are not impaired
and older than twelve months stood at kEUR 10 (previous year : kEUR 3) and between six and
twelve months at kEUR 17 (previous year : kEUR 12). As in the previous year, no overdue other
financial assets existed as of 31 December 2020.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost did not result in net gains/losses, neither in the
reporting year nor in the previous year.
As in the previous year, no collateral was furnished for financial liabilities.

4.12 Contingent liabilities and other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (in kEUR)

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Up to one year

3

0

Longer than one year and up to five years

1

0

Longer than five years

0

0

4

0

Total

The purchase commitments included in other financial obligations amount to kEUR 0 (previous
year : kEUR 0).
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4.13 Legal disputes and contingent liabilities
The company’s business activities do not give rise to any significant legal disputes.
As in the previous year no provisions had been formed for unsettled legal disputes as of
31 December 2020.
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4.14.1 Development of fixed assets 2020

weclapp SE (in kEUR)

Historical acquisition and production cost
As of
01/01/2020

Additions

Reclassifications

Disposal

As of
31/12/2020

120

45

0

0

165

0

178

0

0

178

120

223

0

0

343

34

1

0

0

35

2. Other equipment,
plant and office equipment

109

33

0

0

142

Total property, plant and equipment

143

34

0

0

177

427

33

0

0

460

Total right of use

427

33

0

0

460

Total fixed assets

690

290

0

0

980

I.

Intangible assets
Purchased concessions,
industrial property rights and similar rights
and assets and licences to such rights and
assets
2. Self-created intangible assets

Total intangible assets

II. Property, plant and equipment
1. Technical equipment and machines

III. Right of use
Right of use from leasing contracts

Numbers are rounded. Rounding differences may arise in the summation.
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Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amounts

As of
01/01/2020

Additions

Reclassifications

Disposal

As of
31/12/2020

As of
31/12/2020

As of
31/12/2019

27

40

0

0

67

98

93

0

0

0

0

0

178

0

27

40

0

0

67

276

93

6

3

0

0

9

26

28

55

21

0

0

76

66

54

61

24

0

0

85

92

82

133

145

0

0

278

182

294

133

145

0

0

278

182

294

221

209

0

0

430

550

469
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4.14.2 Development of fixed assets 2019

weclapp SE (in kEUR)

Historical acquisition and production cost
As of
01/01/2019

Additions

Reclassifications

Disposal

As of
31/12/2019

36

84

0

0

120

36

84

0

0

120

1. Technical equipment and machines

33

1

0

0

34

2. Other equipment,
plant and office equipment

92

17

0

0

109

Total property, plant and equipment

125

18

0

0

143

0

427

0

0

427

Total right of use

0

427

0

0

427

Total fixed assets

161

529

0

0

690

I.

Intangible assets
Purchased concessions,
industrial property rights and similar rights
and assets and licences to such rights and
assets

Total intangible assets

II. Property, plant and equipment

III. Right of use
Right of use from leasing contracts

Numbers are rounded. Rounding differences may arise in the summation.
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Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amounts

As of
01/01/2019

Additions

Reclassifications

Disposal

As of
31/12/2019

As of
31/12/2019

As of
31/12/2018

7

20

0

0

27

93

29

7

20

0

0

27

93

29

3

3

0

0

6

28

30

40

15

0

0

55

54

52

43

18

0

0

61

82

82

0

133

0

0

133

294

0

0

133

0

0

133

294

0

50

171

0

0

221

469
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5 Notes to the statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash in hand.
Cash and cash equivalents (in kEUR)
Bank balances

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

923

502

1

1

924

503

Cash
Cash and cash equivalents

The cash flows are broken down into operating, investment and financing activities. The
indirect calculation method was used for the presentation of cash flows from operating
activities.
After adjusting for non-cash income and expenses (mainly depreciation) and taking into
account changes in working capital, weclapp SE received cash inflows from operating
activities of kEUR 2,663 (previous year : inflow of kEUR 1,745).
The cash flow from investing activities totalled kEUR –257 (previous year : kEUR –103) and the
cash flow from financing activities amounted to kEUR –1,985 (previous year : kEUR –1,439).
Exchange rate-related changes did not occur, as in the previous year.
All in all, this results in a cash-effective increase in cash funds of kEUR 421 (previous year :
increase of kEUR 203).
Interest payments of kEUR 14 (previous year : kEUR 42) were made in the financial year 2020.
Interest income of kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0) was recognised.
Net income taxes paid in 2020 amounted to kEUR 848 (previous year : kEUR 0).
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The change in financial liabilities is as follows :
Change in financial liabilities
(in kEUR)

Non-current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Leasing liabilities
Total debt
from financing activities

Change in financial liabilities
(in kEUR)

Non-current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Leasing liabilities
Total debt
from financing activities

01/01/2020

Payment
affecting
changes

Non-cash changes

31/12/2020

Addition
acc. to
IFRS 16

Accruals

0

0

0

0

0

1,835

–1,835

0

0

0

296

–150

33

6

185

2,131

–1,985

33

6

185

01/01/2019

Payment
affecting
changes

Non-cash changes

31/12/2019

Addition
acc. to
IFRS 16

Accruals

0

0

0

0

0

3,150

–1,315

0

0

1,835

0

–139

427

8

296

3,150

–1,454

427

8

2,131
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6 Other information

6.1 Capital management
weclapp manages its capital with the aim of maximising its stakeholders’ income by optimising
the ratio of equity to debt. The equity ratio is defined as the target parameter. Based on equity,
according to the German Commercial Code (HGB), and equity ratio of between 50 % and 70 %
is anticipated.
As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, respectively, equity and total assets amounted to :
31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Change

Equity in kEUR

–635

–2,287

Equity in % of total capital

–15.9

–62.9

+47.0 percentage points

Liabilities in kEUR

4,616

5,924

–1,308

Liabilities in % of total capital

115.9

162.9

–47.0 percentage points

Total capital (equity and liabilities) in kEUR

3,981

3,637

+344

+1,652

Equity comprises the total capital, weclapp’s reserves and the result carried forward/results
and any adjustment items for weclapp’s equity. Liabilities are defined as non-current and
current financial liabilities, provisions and other liabilities.
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6.2 Financial risks
Over the course of its normal business activities, weclapp SE is exposed to only minor interest
rate and credit risks which could have an impact on its net assets, financial position and results
of operations. In the context of international business, weclapp SE is exposed to currency risks
which may have a corresponding impact. Where necessary, weclapp SE also uses derivative
financial instruments to manage these risks. In principle, however, only the risks which have an
impact on the cash flow of weclapp SE are addressed. Derivative financial instruments are
used exclusively as hedging instruments.
The following sections examine the individual risks and risk management.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risks exist, in particular, if receivables, liabilities, cash and cash equivalents
and planned transactions exist or occur in a currency other than the Company’s local currency.
weclapp SE primarily conducts its business operations in Germany and invoices in euros.
At present, trade payables in a foreign currency have no importance for weclapp SE.
weclapp SE’s currency risk is therefore generally low. A policy has been drawn up for the
purpose of hedging the risks, by forward contracts for example. It stipulates that these
transactions must be congruent as to their currencies and maturities.
As in the previous year, no forward exchange contracts existed as of 31 December 2020.
As in the previous year, no monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
existed as of 31 December 2020.
Default risk
weclapp SE is exposed to a credit risk to the effect that assets could be impaired if counterparties fail to comply with their obligations. To minimise credit risk, transactions are only
concluded with debtors of good credit standing and only up to a maximum of a preset risk
limit.
Default risks are in line with customary market risks and appropriate valuation allowances are
made. weclapp SE is not exposed to any major credit risk from one counterparty or a group of
counterparties with similar characteristics. weclapp SE defines counterparties as having
similar characteristics if related companies are involved.
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The differing rates by which overdue receivables are written down depend largely on how long
the receivables have been outstanding and the degree of success in recovering them.
Experience has shown that receivables which are outstanding for more than 365 days are not
recoverable and are fully written off.
Liquidity/new financing risk
The liquidity risk of weclapp SE basically consists of the fact that the Company may not be
able to meet its financial obligations. In 2020, weclapp SE’s liquidity reserves developed very
well. The repayment of the loan granted by3U HOLDING AG was more than compensated for
by the positive course of business and the funds generated. Financial planning tools are used
to monitor and manage liquidity. The planning horizon extends to one year.
weclapp SE can utilise the loan from 3U HOLDING AG up to an amount of EUR 5.0 million.
Following full repayment, the loan was valued at kEUR 0 as of the reporting date (previous
year: kEUR 1,835).
Leasing liabilities fall due as follows : kEUR 140 (previous year : kEUR 162) within one year,
kEUR 45 (previous year : kEUR 134) within two to five years, and kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0)
after more than five years.
weclapp SE anticipates that it can fulfil its other obligations from its operating cash flow.
Furthermore, the Company assumes that the current debt-to-equity ratio will continue to
develop positively.
Interest rate risk
weclapp’s interest-bearing only variable with regard to the 3-months EURIBOR.
Owing to the low level of fluctuation observed in recent years, and anticipated in the future for
3-months EURIBOR, performing a sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7.40 was waived.
The risk of rising interest rates is monitored in a timely manner.

6.3 Related parties
As part of its normal business activities, weclapp SE maintains business relationships with
3U HOLDING AG and its subsidiaries, as well as with shareholder Ertan Özdil. These parties
are considered related parties of weclapp SE. Along with supply and service relationships,
these transactions also pertain to financing the Company with these related parties. The
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transactions were carried out at conditions which are contractually agreed between the Group
companies and are in line with market conditions. The cost-plus method was applied.
Current trade receivables from service relationships with these companies stood at kEUR 8 as
of 31 December 2020 (previous year : kEUR 111) and current liabilities at kEUR 123 (previous
year: kEUR 223).
In the financial year 2020, income of kEUR 239 (previous year : kEUR 176) was generated from
these business relationships and expenses of kEUR 284 (previous year : kEUR 224) were
incurred.
Liabilities from financing stood at kEUR 0 as of the balance sheet date (previous year :
kEUR 1,835). Prior to the repayment of the loan, these liabilities resulted in interest expenses of
kEUR 14 (previous year : kEUR 42).
Business with shareholder Ertan Özdil pertains to supply and service relationships and was
conducted at conditions customary in the market. In the financial year 2020, this related to
income of kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0) and expenses of kEUR 30 (previous year : kEUR 38).
As of 31 December 2020, current receivables stood at kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0) and
current liabilities at kEUR 0 (previous year : kEUR 0).

The following persons were appointed members of the Company’s Management Board in the
reporting year :
Michael Schmidt

Lahntal
Member of weclapp SE’s Management Board
Spokesman of 3U HOLDING AG’s Management Board

Ertan Özdil

Kitzingen
Member of weclapp SE’s Management Board

The total remuneration of the Management Board granted in 2020 amounted to kEUR 274
(previous year : kEUR 167). Mr Schmidt receives his remuneration exclusively from
3U HOLDING AG.
The variable remuneration for 2020 includes 100 % of the maximum variable remuneration
possible for 2020 of kEUR 50 (Ertan Özdil). In addition, Mr Ertan Özdil received a one-off
special payment of kEUR 50 in 2020.
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Name

Fixed remuneration*
(in kEUR)
2020
2019

Michael Schmidt

Variable remuneration
(in kEUR)
2020
2019

Total remuneration
(in kEUR)
2020
2019

0

0

0

0

0

0

Ertan Özdil

174

167

100**

0

274

167

Total

174

167

100**

0

274

167

*Fixed remuneration including fringe benefits
**Incl. one-off special payment of kEUR 50

Shares held by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2020 :
Name

Function

Number of shares

Michael Schmidt

Management Board

0

Ertan Özdil

Management Board

17,500,112

Ralf Thoenes

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

0

Andreas Odenbreit

Supervisory Board

0

Christoph Hellrung

Supervisory Board

0

The following persons were appointed as members of the Supervisory Board in the reporting year:
Ralf Thoenes

Düsseldorf
Lawyer in the Altenburger law firm, Düsseldorf
Chairman of weclapp SE’s Supervisory Board
Other Supervisory Board or Advisory Board mandates:
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 3U HOLDING AG, Marburg
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 3U ENERGY AG, Marburg

Andreas Odenbreit

Marburg
Member of weclapp SE’s Supervisory Board
Member of 3U HOLDING AG’s Management Board, Marburg
Other Supervisory Board or Advisory Board mandates:
Member of the Supervisory Board of 3U ENERGY AG, Marburg

Christoph Hellrung

Hattingen
Member of weclapp SE’s Supervisory Board
Member of 3U HOLDING AG’s Management Board, Marburg

Supervisory Board remuneration has not yet been agreed for weclapp SE.
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The Altenburger Rechtsanwälte law firm of which Mr. Ralf Thoenes, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, is a partner did not render any consulting services in the financial year
ended. In the previous year, the Altenburger Rechtsanwälte law firm received kEUR 1.0 for
consulting services, plus value added tax.
The basic components of the compensation system for the Management Board and
Supervisory Board are presented in the remuneration report as part of the combined
management report.

6.4 Events after the reporting date
After the end of the reporting period, on 13 January 2021, weclapp SE concluded a
cooperation agreement with INFOCLOUD AG in Bolzano, Italy, a subsidiary of the
INFOMINDS Group which was founded for this purpose. INFOMINDS will partner to
exclusively market the cloud-based ERP platform weclapp throughout Italy.
With regard to the COVID-19 pandemic, we refer to our comments in the management report.

6.5 Consolidated financial statements
As a subsidiary, the Company is included by way of full consolidation in the consolidated
financial statements prepared by Marburg-based 3U HOLDING AG in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 3U HOLDING AG publishes its consolidated
financial statements in the German Electronic Federal Gazette.

Frankfurt am Main, 26 April 2021
The Management Board

Ertan Özdil

Michael Schmidt
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Independent Auditor’s Report* —
To weclapp SE, Frankfurt am Main
Note on the financial statements and the management report

Audit opinions

Company’s position. In all material
respects this management report is

We have audited the financial statements of

consistent with the financial statements,

weclapp SE, Frankfurt am Main (the

complies with German legal requirements

Company), comprising the balance sheet as

and suitably presents the opportunities

of 31 December 2020, the income statement,

and risks of future development.

the statement of comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the cash

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we

flow statement for the financial year from

declare that our audit has not led to any

1 January to 31 December 2020 and the notes

objections to the correctness of the financial

to the financial statements, including a

statements and the management report.

summary of significant accounting policies.
We have also audited the management
report of weclapp SE, Frankfurt am Main, for

Basis for the audit opinions

the financial year from 1 January to
31 December 2020. In accordance with

We conducted our audit of the financial

German legal requirements.

statements and the management report in
accordance with § 317 HGB and German

In our opinion, based on the findings of our

generally accepted standards for the audit of

audit

financial statements promulgated by the

• the accompanying financial statements in

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Our

analogous application of § 315e (3) in

responsibility under these rules and

conjunction with para. 1, in conjunction

principles is described in more detail in the

with § 325 (2a) of the German Commercial

section “Responsibility of the auditor for the

Code (HGB) comply in all material

audit of the financial statements and the

respects with IFRSs as adopted by the EU

management report” in our audit opinion. We

and the additional requirements of

are independent from the Company in

German law and give a true and fair view

accordance with European law and German

of the net assets and financial position of

commercial and professional regulations and

the Company as of 31 December 2020 and

have fulfilled our other German professional

of its results of operations for the fiscal

duties in accordance with these

year from 1 January to 31 December 2020

requirements. We believe that the audit

in accordance with these requirements;

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

• overall, the attached management report
provides a suitable understanding of the

opinion on the financial statements and the
management report.

*The following is the unauthorised English translation of the German language Auditor’s Report which is the only legally binding document. The translation is being provided for convenience purposes only.
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Responsibility of the legal representatives

management report, which as a whole

and the Supervisory Board for the financial

provides a suitable view of the Company’s

statements and the management report

position and suitably presents the
opportunities and risks of future

The legal representatives are responsible for

development. Furthermore, the legal

the preparation of the financial statements,

representatives are responsible for the

which comply in all material respects with

precautions and measures (systems) which

IFRSs as adopted by the EU and with the

they have deemed necessary to enable the

additional requirements of German law in

preparation of a management report in

analogous application of § 315e (3) in

compliance with the applicable German legal

conjunction with para. 1, in conjunction with

regulations and to provide sufficient suitable

§ 325 (2a) HGB in all material respects, and

evidence for the statements made in the

for ensuring that the financial statements

management report.

give a true and fair view of the net assets,
financial position, and results of operations

The Supervisory Board is responsible for

of the Company in accordance with these

monitoring the Company’s accounting

requirements. Furthermore, the legal

process for preparing the financial

representatives are responsible for the

statements and the management report.

internal controls which they have determined
to be necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements which are free from

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the

material misstatements, whether due to

financial statements and the management

fraud or error.

report

In preparing the financial statements,

Our objective is to obtain reasonable

management is responsible for assessing the

assurance as to whether the financial

Company’s ability to continue as a going

statements as a whole are free from material

concern. In addition, they are responsible for

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

disclosing, where relevant, information about

whether the management report as a whole

the Company’s ability to continue as a going

provides a suitable understanding of the

concern. They are also responsible for

Company’s position and suitably presents the

accounting for continuing operations in

opportunities and risks of future

accordance with the going concern principle

development in all material respects in

unless the Company is to be wound up or

accordance with the financial statements and

decommissioned or there is no realistic

the findings of our audit, as well as to issue

alternative but to liquidate the Company.

an audit opinion containing our audit
opinions on the financial statements and the

In addition, the legal representatives are

management report.

responsible for the preparation of the

Management Report

|

Financial Statements

|

Additional Information

99

Adequate assurance is a high degree of

procedures that are appropriate in the

certainty but does not guarantee that an

circumstances, but not for the purpose of

audit conducted in accordance with Section

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

of those systems.

and in compliance with the generally

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the

accepted standards for the audit of financial

accounting policies used and the

statements promulgated by the Institut der

reasonableness of accounting estimates

Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always reveal a

and related disclosures made by

material misstatement. Misstatements can

management and the reasonableness of

result from violations or inaccuracies and are

accounting estimates and related

considered material if it could reasonably be

disclosures made by management.

expected that they could individually or

• We draw conclusions about the

collectively influence the economic decisions

appropriateness of the accounting policies

of the addressees made on the basis of these

used by the legal representatives for the

financial statements and the management

continuation of the company’s operations

report.

and, on the basis of the audit evidence
obtained, whether there is any material

During the audit we exercise due discretion

uncertainty relating to events or

and maintain a critical view. Beyond that

circumstances that could cast significant

• We identify and assess the risks of

doubt upon the Company’s ability to

material misstatement of the financial

continue as a going concern. If we

statements and the management report,

conclude that a material uncertainty

whether due to fraud or error, plan and

exists, we are obliged to draw attention to

perform the audit procedures in response

the related disclosures in the financial

to these risks and obtain audit evidence

statements and the management report in

sufficient and appropriate to provide a

our audit opinion or, if these disclosures

basis for our audit opinion. The risk that

are inappropriate, to modify our audit

material misstatements will not be

opinion. We draw our conclusions on the

detected is greater for violations than for

basis of the audit evidence obtained up to

misstatements because violations may

the date of our audit opinion. However,

involve fraudulent interactions,

future events or circumstances may result

falsification, intentional omissions,

in the Company being unable to continue

misrepresentations, misrepresentations, or

its operations.

the invalidation of internal controls.
• We gain an understanding of the internal

100

• We assess the overall presentation,
structure and content of the consolidated

control system relevant to the audit of the

financial statements, including the

financial statements and the procedures

disclosures and whether the financial

and measures relevant to the audit of the

statements present the underlying

management report in order to plan audit

transactions and events in such a way that
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the financial statements give a true and

Bonn, 26 April 2021

fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations of the

Ebner Stolz GmbH & Co. KG

Company in accordance with IFRS as

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

adopted by the EU and the additional

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

requirements of German law in analogous
application of § 315e (3) in conjunction

Burkhard Völkner

with para. 1, in conjunction with § 325 (2a)

Certified Public Accountant

HGB.
• We express an opinion on the consistency
of the management report with the

Martin Theis
Certified Public Accountant

financial statements, its compliance with
the law, and the view of the Company’s
situation conveyed by it.
• We perform audit procedures on the
forward-looking disclosures in the
combined management report as
presented by the legal representatives. On
the basis of sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence, we verify in particular the
significant assumptions underlying the
forward-looking statements made by the
legal representatives and assess whether
the forward-looking statements have been
properly derived from these assumptions.
We do not give an independent audit
opinion on the future-oriented statements
and the underlying assumptions. There is a
substantial unavoidable risk that future
events could differ materially from the
forward-looking statements.
Among other things, we discuss with those
responsible for monitoring the planned scope
and timing of the audit as well as significant
audit findings, including any deficiencies in
the internal control system, that we identify
during our audit.
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Disclaimer

The English translation of the German annual

information provided by weclapp SE under

report of weclapp SE is provided for your

HGB or IFRS.

convenience. Only the German version was
audited by the auditor and is legally binding.

It should be noted that the key figures of
weclapp SE, which are not part of
commercial law and IFRS regulations, are

This annual report contains forward-looking

only partially comparable with the

statements that reflect the current views of

corresponding key figures of other

the management of weclapp SE with regard

companies.

to future events. Forward-looking statements
are based on valid plans, estimates and
expectations at the time of reporting. Such
statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties, most of which are difficult to
assess and which are generally beyond the
control of weclapp SE.
Factors that may cause or influence a
deviation include, but are not limited to : the
development of demand for our services,
competitive influences, including price
pressure, technological changes, regulatory
measures, risks associated with the
integration of newly acquired companies.
Should these or other risks and uncertainties
occur or the assumptions underlying the
statements prove to be incorrect, the actual
results of weclapp SE may differ materially
from those expressed or implied in these
statements. The company assumes no
obligation to update such forward-looking
statements.
This annual report contains a number of key
figures which are not part of the commercial
regulations and the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), such as EBT,
EBIT, EBITDA and investments (capex). These
key figures are not intended to replace the

weclapp SE
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60311 Frankfurt am Main
Germany
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